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operational since the 1930s?

A I don't know about the '30s. I'm familiar with
it going back into the '70s. I know it goes beyond that,
but I can't give you a specific year beyond the -- you

know, generally the '70s sometime.

Q Okay. Is it also correct that a system -- and
I'm unsure if you had this or not -- that the system has
been operated for -- automated for at least 30 years?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's testimony.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Has the DROS system been
automated for at least 30 years?
A I'm not sure the exact date of the automation of
the dealer record of sale system.

MR. KRAUSE: And objection as to "automated."

What do you mean by "automated"?

MR. MONFORT: Computerized.

MR. KRAUSE: Okay.

THE WITNESS: I don't know what, you know,

specific year, you know, the -- they had computers start
doing this. I know it used to be paper documents and then
it -- it eventually merged into an online system, but I --

I don't know the year.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Can you confirm whether or not

it's been computerized for at least over the last ten
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thing that's out there.

Q Okay. Does the DROS system record -- the
statistics you provided us with, are those including
transfers or just sales? Because they're referred to as
sales in the document, but my understanding is the dealer

record of sales system records all transfers, not just

sales.
A Yeah, it would be sales, private party transfers.
I think that's what -- I mean, that's what this list looks

like it would be. 1It's not --

Q Okay .
A Let me just look -- flip through here.
Q Is it your opinion that the DROS records identify

whether a particular caliber of ammunition is used
principally in a handgun?

A Say that again.

Q Is it your opinion that the DROS records identify
whether a particular caliber of ammunition is used
principally in a handgun?

A No. 1It's basically a starting point for us to
understand what calibers are common in handgun sales.

Q Okay. Thank you.

Is it your opinion that these sales records
identify whether a particular cartridge of ammunition is

used more than -- is used more in a handgun than in a long
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MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Calls for speculation.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, I -- I don't know that I can
say that the -- the caliber here gives a breakdown as to
the actual -- one caliber versus another is being used

more in rifles than in handguns.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. Thank you.

So is it your testimony -- am I correct that you
rely on the handgun sales data in the DROS records in
determining what calibers of ammunition to include in the
DOJ's caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's prior testimony.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Did you rely on the DROS records
we're talking about in determining what calibers of
ammunition to include in the DOJ's caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Asked and answered.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, I think I've already said I
did use it as a starting point to see what the popular --
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay.

MR. KRAUSE: He wasn't finished answering.

MR. MONFORT: 1I'm sorry.

THE WITNESS: I was just going to say that the --
it was a tool, basically, to determine what were the

popular calibers in California in handguns. That was the
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gist of this particular data search.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Are these DROS records available
to the public?
A I think as long as you make a purchase, you can
request a copy of your own DROS records. I don't know
that it's releasable to the general public. That's
probably a question better posed to our legal staff.
Q I'm sorry. Do you know whether -- I'm not
referring to a particular record. The records you
reviewed, the totality of the record sales over the last
five years, is that information, that sales data, is that
information available to the public, in your opinion?
A I don't know, sir. I'm not sure if it's -- if
there's any privileged information captured in this. I
don't believe there is. There's nothing identifying a
purchase or anything.

MR. KRAUSE: Are you asking whether a person
could make a public records act request for it?

MR. MONFORT: Yes.

MR. KRAUSE: Do you know?

THE WITNESS: I don't know. It's possible.
Again, our legal staff would be able to handle that
guestion better than I.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. Aside from whether the

public can access them, the general public, are the DROS
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sales records available to local law enforcement?
A It's probably the same type of question that
would go to our legal staff.
Q Okay. And again, I -- you're probably going to
give the same answer, but I'm going to ask it.

Are the DROS records available to ammunition
vendors?
A I imagine -- yeah, like you said, it's going to
be the same answer. DOJ BOF legal staff could probably
answer that question better than I. I don't have an

answer for you.

Q Okay.
A Sorry.
Q How about licensed firearm retailers, dealers

licensed pursuant to Penal Code Section 12071, do they
have access to the DROS records?

A I don't know, sir. It would be, again, a
question for our legal staff.

Q Okay. Mr. Graham, for each caliber of ammunition
you identified as handgun ammunition in the DOJ's caliber
list, did you perform a comparative analysis of handgun
sales versus rifle sales in that --

A You're kind of in and out, sir. Could you repeat
the question?

Q Sure. No problem.

183

BARKLEY
Blake Graham - Volume | Court Raportars |



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

For each caliber of ammunition you identified as
handgun ammunition in the DOJ's caliber list, did you
perform a comparative analysis of handgun sales versus

rifle sales in that caliber?

A NewmiimenctpablremMtoRdonthieE

Q Can you please explain to me why not?

A Yeah, the Department of Justice is prohibited
from tracking long gun sales beyond the fact of a -- maybe
a prohibited person trying to buy a long gun. If -- after

about five days in the background process, assuming it's
going to be a pass, meaning someone's going to be able to
buy the weapon, meaning a long gun, we're not able to
retain that information in this -- in the computer system.
So there's no similar search, you know, similar to Exhibit
D that I can ask for for long guns.

Q Okay. In your discovery responses, Yyou state
that the listed -- the calibers identified in the DOJ's
caliber list are consistently among the highest in terms

of handgun volume sales over the last five years; is that

correct?
A Yeah, to the best of my recollection, yes.
Q Okay. Can you tell me what you mean by "among

the highest" sold? And what I mean by that, was there a
cutoff point -- did a caliber of firearm, for example,

have to be in the top ten or 15 each year in order to meet

184

BARKLEY
Blake Graham - Volume | Court Reporters |




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

your qualification?

A No. It was basically which ones were, you know,
clearly principally for use in handguns that didn't have,
I guess, more of a dual-use issue that would kind of cloud
the issue, if that would make sense.

Q And you're referring to information not contained
in the sales data to make that determination; is that
correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: Could you rephrase that, sir?

Q BY MR. MONFORT: I'll probably just move on to
another question.

I'm just trying to come up with what you meant in
terms of among the highest sold. You know, for example,
are there any calibers not listed in the DOJ's caliber
list that were among the highest sold?

A Yeah, the .22, the 5.7x28mm. Those were, you
know, among the highest, but, you know, they were
basically left out at this time.

Q Can you tell me why?

A The .22, for example, it's -- it's got a heavy
following in handguns and a heavy following in rifles and
iintalss e tisanislnmeeawlsisbtdemto omddiffdcultetoL.pinpoint or - -

Q When you say it has a "heavy following" in both

handguns and rifles, how do you know this?
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A It's one of the more popular weapons -- handguns
weapons sold. When I go to gun shows, I see lots of .22

rifles. I see lots of .22 handguns. It's a popular and

cheap cartridge to shoot. It's been around for a long,

long time.

Q Okay.
A That -- that --
Q Do you have any data regarding the sales of .22

caliber information in rifles other than seeing it sold at
gun shows?

MR. KRAUSE: Clint, just let me -- I think you
cut him off again. If you could please wait for him to
finish his answers.

MR. MONFORT: Yeah, I'm sorry. I can't tell
since I'm on the other end here.

THE WITNESS: That's okay.

Yeah, with regards to the .22s, you know, I --
attending gun shows, going to gun stores, reading gun
magazines, you know, research on the Internet, reviewing
different, you know, reference manuals, Rifles of the
World, Cartridges of the World, the Gun Trader's Guide and
just my own personal experience as a gun owner, talking
with other gun owners about what they find to be popular
and, you know, what they typically buy and shoot.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. So for purposes of the
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challenged provision, is .22 caliber ammunition handgun

ammunition?

A Not at this time.

0 Not at this time? Was it at any former point in
time?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Well, you said "not at this
time." That seems to me to indicate that the status of
handgun ammunition or rifle ammunition might have changed.
MR. KRAUSE: Or might change in the future after
further research and field study, maybe.
THE WITNESS: Yeah, I mean --
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. But at this time, it's
rifle ammunition; 1s that correct?
A Not necessarily. It may not meet the current
"principally for use" language of the aforementioned

sections in the Penal Code, so it was basically left off.

Q Okay. What does "principally" mean, in your
understanding?
A Probably --

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. I'm going to object.
Calls for a legal conclusion and vague and ambiguous,

but --

Q BY MR. MONFORT: 1In determining whether or not a

caliber of ammunition is handgun ammunition, did you
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consider it to be handgun ammunition if that caliber of
ammunition is used more than 50 percent of the time in a
handgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Again, objection. Calls for a legal
conclusion, but please answer.

THE WITNESS: Okay. Yeah, basically, the
majority of the time is -- is the general rule I follow
when considering the different calibers that were floating
around out there.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Is .22 caliber ammunition used
more than 50 perxrcent of the time in handguns?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Calls for speculation.

THE WITNESS: I really couldn't form a strong
opinion on that and that's why I didn't include it on the
list here, sir.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: I'm sorry. You said you haven't
formed a strong opinion.

Have you formed some opinion that might not be
characterized as a strong opinion?

A I think the .22 is used quite a bit in both
rifles and handguns, but I was unable to determine if it
met the "principally for use" language as defined in the
Penal Code sections.

Q Okay. In your understanding, does the

"principally for use" standard mean ammunition that is
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used more than 50 percent of the time in a handgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Asked and answered and
calls for a legal conclusion.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, my interpretation is if it
was more often than not or 50 percent or a majority of the
time, and that's the best way I can say it.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. And then so -- I just
want to ask you this question as well just so that we're
clear.

Is .22 caliber ammunition, in your opinion, used
more than 50 percent of the time in a rifle?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Asked and answered.
Objection. Calls for speculation.

THE WITNESS: I was unable to tell if it was, you
know, more likely to be shot out of a rifle or handgun on
that specific caliber.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: And can you just -- just to be
clear, can you explain to me why not?

A Just because of the long history of the round,
the huge numbers of rifles and handguns chambered in this
particular caliber and the commonness and availability of
this cartridge.

Q Were you unable to determine it because you
didn't have any data to compare it to between handgun

usage and rifle usage of .22 ammunition?
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MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Argumentative.
Objection. Calls for speculation.

THE WITNESS: The .22, you know, obviously I said
earlier that there are no rifle stats from the DROS
system, you know, and/or the AFS system that's linked to
the DROS system. That would have made things a lot
easier, to have that information available.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. I also note that the .22
is listed in the DROS sales.

Does that include .2257?

A The dealers basically -- the way these numbers
appear here, if you can look at page one of Igpdoutianlic o)
this is a 2006 date. BAbout four columns down, there's a
number 17,297.

Do you see that number, sir?

Q Yes.

A Okay. So that number there is generated because
dealers in California in 2006 told the Department of
Justice, using a drop-down screen on their computer
screens that they transmit the DROS data from, that they

made that many sales and transfers of .22 caliber

handguns.

I1f, for some reason, the dealer thought that they
had a -- I believe you called it .225s --
Q Yes.
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A -- then one or more of those guns in that number
might be that -- you know, represented there.

Does that help you?

Q I'm sorry. So one or more of those guns might be
represented there.

So you don't know whether that list includes all
Sallic o e S e o P s e N d eSS st hatk
correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's testimony and he's -- he's not here offered as
an expert on the DROS system, so it's calling for
speculation.

MR. MONFORT: I'm sorry. He's relying on it and
that's why I'm curious about it because I'm a little bit
unfamiliar with it, with the record.

THE WITNESS: Farther down on the same page, sir,

about two-thirds of the way down, .222, .221, those are

listed there. They have -- they have, you know, different
sales numbers. You know, 16 sales of .222.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay.

A Fifteen sales of .221. And then you said, I

think, .223 as well. There were 117 sales of those
handguns, at least as identified by a gun dealer to the
Department of Justice at the time of sale.

Q Okay. And what about .556? Is that included
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within the .22s?

A No. That's got its own designation almost at the
very bottom of the list. There were EaleNld ST e d s
2006.

Q Okay. Okay. Now, don't those firearms all shoot
.22 caliber ammunition? Is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Calls for speculation.

THE WITNESS: To the -- yeah. The way this is
broke down -- broken down, excuse me, is in this -- you
know, in this fashion for the dealers to accurately
document the sale of the weapons. The cartridges that
each fire is going to be, you know, depending on the
weapon itself -- dependent upon the weapon itself. The
02 DNt R 900 B ER N Ol S 10 P e[| surprised, actually, to see
a lot of those other calibers, the .222 .221, the .223
listed as handgun sales because those are common rifle
caliber rounds.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. Thank you.

If a rifle was transferred or sold that used
the .45 Long Colt cartridge or if a handgun was
transferred that used the .45 Long Colt cartridge, would
it be in the .45 or .454 data?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Calls for speculation.

Incomplete hypothetical.
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THE WITNESS: Again, depending upon what the
dealer put in there, assuming they put .45, then it would
be listed in the -- the total next to the .45. 1If they
used .454, then it's going to be listed next to the figure
in there.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: So am I correct in understanding
that you're relying on the dealers to actively report the
sales of a particular caliber firearm and identify that in
the correct caliber?

A Yes.

Q One of the calibers listed in the DROS records is
.32-20.

Do you consider that to be a distinct caliber of
ammunition?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: Could you refer me to the page
you're discussing the cartridge? Oh, I see. Okay.
Halfway -- about halfway down page one?

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Yes, .32-20. It's identified in
the column at the top of the left is identified calibers.
It lists .32-20 separately from .20. Do you consider

this -- or .32-20 separately from .32.

Do you consider this to be a distinct caliber of
ammunition, .33-207

A No, it's probably best characterized as a

193

BARKLEY

Blake Graham - Volume | Court Reoriers




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

a -- you know, a lower receiver, for example, that's, for

some reason, been DROS'd as a handgun.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. Do you know that that's a
code?
A Yeah, there -- that one, I'm sure is -- 1t is an

actual code. 1It's not a caliber. There is no .8888

caliber.

Q Okay. What about the .375.

A .375. Can you tell me which page you're on?

Q I'm at the last page right below the 8888 entry.
A Oh, okay. Yeah, I believe that's a caliber code.
It's not going to be a -- it's a caliber indication. 1It's
not a -- like a code or something like that for the
dealers.

Q Okay. That's a caliber?

A Yeah, it's a caliber reference for the dealers so
that they can have a -- you know, a code to -- to make a

DROS entry into the automated firearms and DROS systems.

Q Okay. So are there firearms that shoot
ammunition of a .375 caliber?

A Off the top of my head, I can't tell you or name
one, but, you know, it's -- it's in there for -- for a
reason. I don't know what I can do to further answer that
question.

0] How did you determine to leave that caliber off
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your list of ammunition calibers?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Assumes facts not in
evidence.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Did you consider the .375
caliber when determining the caliber list?
A I think it -- you know, I looked at the -- the
list as a whole and the most popular and, I guess, the
largest calibers that were being purchased and transferred
in the state over the last five years or so were the ones
that were put forth in this list. And this, obviously, is
not -- it's got a low number of transactions involving
this particular identifier.
Q Is it your opinion that a caliber of ammunition
is only handgun ammunition if it's popular?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Mischaracterizes the witness's testimony.

THE WITNESS: The question, I think --

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Is it possible?
A Is what possible?
Q I'm sorry. I'm sorry.

Is it your testimony that you left calibers off
the list if they were not popular, even if they might be
principally used in a handgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the

witness's prior testimony.
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THE WITNESS: Given -- given the short time frame
available due to the perceived, I don't know, compressed
court schedule on this matter, you know, the calibers that
were chosen is what was -- the ones that were researchable
given the short amount of time. So there's probably
calibers left off that, given more time and research, you
know, might actually fit the definition, but at this time,
they were left off.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. I guess just to be clear,
I know that you gave me some reason how you came to a
determination or how you came in -- how you formulated
this list, but just to be clear, my question is whether or
not unpopular calibers of ammunition were left off the
list even though they might be principally used in a
handgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Asked and answered and
mischaracterizes the witness's prior testimony.

If you have anything to add --

THE WITNESS: I -- yeah, I have nothing to add,
sir.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: I'm sorry. I just need an
answer to this question. I -- I'm not sure if I've gotten

a yes or a no.

Were unpopular calibers of ammunition excluded

from your list of ammunition calibers even though they
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might be principally used in a handgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague. Ambiguous.
Mischaracterizes the witness's testimony. Argumentative.

If you understand what he's asking you -- I think
you've given an answer, but --

THE WITNESS: Yeah. I don't know that I have a
different answer than I've already given, Mr. Monfort.

MR. MONFORT: Are you instructing the witness not
to answer? I haven't gotten a yes or no answer yet.

MR. KRAUSE: No, I'm not instructing him not to
answer. I'm telling him to answer if he can answer it.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Yes or no? Were unpopular
calibers left off the list even though they were
principally used in a handgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Same objections as before.

THE WITNESS: I think I've already answered this.
Given the compressed time to --
Q BY MR. MONFORT: Yes or no?

MR. KRAUSE: He --

THE WITNESS: I'm trying to answer your question,
but you're cutting me off right now.

Given the compressed time frame, the calibers
that I've listed are the ones that I felt were principally
for use, and I'm not saying that there are not other

calibers out there that would also fit this definition,
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but the ones that I have listed are the ones that I -- I
feel strongly about.
Q BY MR. MONFORT: So was that a yes or a no?

MR. KRAUSE: Clint, he's given you his answer.

He doesn't have to answer yes Or no.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: I'm not trying to be, you

know --

A Did you not understand that that was an
affirmative?

Q Okay. Okay. So we're -- so we're clear. I did

not understand that. Thank you for clarifying.

MR. KRAUSE: Well --

THE WITNESS: Yeah. I mean --
Q BY MR. MONFORT: The answer to my question is
ves?

MR. KRAUSE: No, I don't think that's his answer.
The answer was the answer given.

MR. MONFORT: He said did I understand that that
was an affirmative. So was the answer an affirmative?

MR. KRAUSE: At this point, I don't even know

what question we're talking about. The popularity

question?

MR. MONFORT: No, I'll be happy to answer it
again -- to ask it again.
Q Did you leave unpopular calibers of ammunition

207

BARKLEY
Blake Graham - Volume | Cour( Raparters



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

off your list even though they are principally for use in
a handgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous as
to "unpopular."

THE WITNESS: If there were calibers left off
that do meet the definition, I didn't have time to
research further than the calibers that I did identify. I
don't want to say that there are no others because I don't
know that for sure.

Q BY MR. MONFORT: Okay. We'll move on.

And real guick here, I was trying my best to wrap
this up within an hour, but it doesn't look like we're
going to be able to wrap it up in an hour today, so I
mean, if we want to pick a leaving time for everyone and
reconvene tomorrow...

MR. KRAUSE: What time -- how much more time do
you need?

MR. MONFORT: Two hours, I believe.

MR. KRAUSE: Are you available tomorrow?

THE WITNESS: I don't know. I'd rather just get
this over with, honestly, but I don't -- I can't speak for
everyone in the room.

MR. KRAUSE: Do you want to go off the record and
have the conversation?

MR. MONFORT: Okay. Yes, let's go off the record
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affirmations pursuant to California Code of Civil
Procedure, Section 2093 (b) and prior to being examined,
the deponent was first placed under oath or affirmation
by me. (Civ. Proc. §§ 2025.320, 2025.540(a))

I am the deposition officer that
stenographically recorded the testimony in the foregoing
deposition and the foregoing transcript is a true
record of the testimony given. (Civ. Proc. §

2025.540(a))
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I have not, and shall not, offer or provide

any services or products to any party's attorney or

third party who is financing all or part of the action

without first offering same to all parties or their
attorneys attending the deposition and making same
available at the same time to all parties or their
attorneys. (Civ. Proc. § 2025.320(b))

I shall not provide any service or product
consisting of the deposition officer's notations or
comments regarding the demeanor of any witness,
attorney, or party present at the deposition to any

party or any party's attorney or third party who is

financing all or part of the action, nor shall I collect
any personal identifying information about the witness
as a service or product to be provided to any party or

third party who is financing all or part of the action.

(Civ. Proc. § 2025.320(c))

Dated: DECEMBER 3, 2010
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. Forensic Firearm and Toolmark Terms.’
~ Abstracted From The = -
_ GLOSSARY OF THE ASSOCIATION OF FIREARM. AND

TOOL MARK EXAMINERS [AFT’E]
with selected terms reforonced to the CA Pena) Code and Cal, Code Regs.
and

A Short Acronym Finder [A¥F] .

GLOSSARY
Action
The working meohanism of a firearm, May be broken down into sotlon types as follow.:
A AUTOMATIC A firearm dcsim that feexls cartndgm, fires, extracts and sjects

cartridge cases as long es the tripgeér is fully depressed and thars &re certridges in the feed
gystemn, Also nalled FULL AUTO and MACHINE GUN.

B.BOLT — A firsarm in which the treech closqxe:
. (1) i# in lino with the bore at all.timos, '
@ manually redprocutes fo Ioad unload amd coak,

(3) is locked hxplucebybreech bolt lugs and engaging abulmcnts usually in
the reoeiver, Thero are two principal types of bolt actions: 'the turn bolt and the

straight pull.

C. BOX LOCE. — A design in whjc'h the hammer and hammer springs ars loceted within
the frame aud the txigger assembly in the lower tang, Generally fovnd on double barrel
shotguns such as Parker, Pox, Btevms, Winchester Models 21 and 24, etc,

. D. FALLING BLOCK — A singls shot laver action mechardsm. Tho brecehblock slides
vertioally or nearly vertioally, when the lover is moved, to expose or lock the brecch,
Bxample: Ruger No. 1.

. BINGED FRAME — A design wherein the barrgl{s) is pivoied ‘on ﬂ)é frame. When
the action Is open, the barro} (2) mey pivot up, down, or sideways for loading or .
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unloading. When tho action is closed the breech of the barrel(s) swings sgalnst the
standing broech. Opening Is normally accomplished by movement of a tcp- gids-, or

nder-jever.

F. LBVER — A design wherein the breech mechaniem is cyoled by an external lover
gexwmlly below thoe recolver,

G. MARTINI — A hemmerless single shot rifle action, lever operated, in which the
movement of ths breechblock is entirely within the recefver and pivots at the rear, .

H, REVOL‘VER A firearm, usua.lly © handgun, with & cylindor having sovexal
clmmbess 50 arranged as to rotats eround an axis and be discharged successively by the
same filng mechanism. See also REV OLVBR.

1. ROLLING BLOCK — A single shot action in wh.(oh & breochblock and hammer each
rotate about their separate trangverse pins in the receiver. The two members are swung

" rearward, away fom the barral bresoh fo load the mechianism, 6r extract s oeftridgs ocase. - '

To firo & cattridge, fhe broccbblock is closed and locking is accomplished by fhe falling
hammer engaging an abutmont on the breechilock. Bxample: Remington No. 4.

" J. SEMIAUTOMATIC — A repeating firearm requicing a separato pull of the tigger for
‘cach shot fired, and whichuses the energy of discharge to perforin a portion of the

operating or firing cyole (usually thc loading portion). .

K. SIDELOCK - A design in whioh the firing mechaniem is attached to a sidcp]ato
rather thao being integra) with the frame, .

L. SLIDE ~ An action which features a movabls forearm which is manually actuated in
motion parallel to the barrel by the shooter. Forearm motion is transmitted to a breech
bolt assembly which performs all the functions of the ﬁﬁng oycle assigmd to it by the
design. Also known as PUMP ACTION,

M. TRAP DQOR — An acion in which atop hinged brezchblock pivets up end forwm'd
to open. Locking on this action is accomplished by a cam located at the rear of the
breechblock thet fits into 8 mating recess. Also known as a CAM LOCK.

Alr'Gun

A’ gan that uses compressed air or gas to propel a projectile. Also called AIR RIFLB
PELLET RIFLE, PELLET GUN and BB QGUN, .

Ammunition

1. One or more loaded cartridges consisting of a primcd case, propellant, and with one or
more projectiles, Also referred to 2s FIXBD or LIVE AMMUNITION. .




Ammunition, Ball

A term generally nsed by the mﬂitary fora cartridge with a fii]l metal jackoted bullet or
solid motal projectile, - .

Assault Rifle ' : :
1. A compact, SELECT-FIRE, detachablo box magazhmo—fod weapon, hat. utﬂizcs 8 R
centerfirs rifle tartridge and is dm!gned primarily for military use. T
2. A slang term, used INCORRECTLY to dmoribo any firearm with a mﬂimry appearance ‘

OT largs magazing capacity.
Ballistics |

The study of & projestile in mation; often confhsed- wllh Fn’oaxms idcmtzﬂuadcm.

Bal]isﬂca. Exterior
The study of the ‘moﬂen of the projecdlo(e} aﬁer it leaves the barrel of the firearm.

Baﬂilﬂcs, Interior
Tho study of the motion of the projectile(s) withm the ﬁrcnrm from the moment of -
ignition vntil it leaves tho barrel.

Ballistics, Terminal

‘The stady ofthe pmjectﬂe" 8 impact on the tnrget,
Barrel
. That part of 2 ﬁrcann through which & projectile or ehot oharge tmvah; under the impems )
of powder gasses, compreaged air, or other like means, May be rifled or smooth.
Barrel Length oo .
The distanco between the end of the bdrrel and the face of the cloged broechblock or bolt,
On revolvers, it is the overall length of the barrel including the threaded portion within
the frame, Barrel length normally ghould include.compensators, flash hidexs, eto,, if
peamanently affixed, .
Bore .
‘The fnterior of a barrel forward of the chember,
Bore Diameter
1. Rifled barrels; the minor diametsr of n barrel which is the dismeter of & circle formed
* by the tops of the lands,

2. Shotgnns: the interior d:mcnsions of the berrel forward of thre chamsber but behind the
choke, |



: Breech

Botiteneck Cartridge ,

A eartridgo caza baving 0.mein dismetsr md 8 distinct angular showlder etupping down to
8 smaller dameter at the peck position of e casa, .

\
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Broech Fuce

\

That part of the broechiblock or breech bolt which {s againat tho heed of the ca'tn.dguom ’
or shotaball during firing.
Balst - . ' i .
A non-sphesioat projectile for use.in a rifled barrel,
Bullet Coo . '
“Tho inoar portion of  jaoketed bullet, asually lead. -
Bullet, Copper Jackotsd ' . .
A bullet baving an outer Jacket of coppar ot copper elloy and containing a lead alloy cors.
Bulket, Dundum

An obsolets term reforring & en expanding bullet menufactured at fhe Bﬂdsh Arsenal in
Dumdum, India .
Bulet, Full Metal Jacket :
A projeatile ta -whld\ tho bolet Jjacket mclosw (ke entire bullet, with tho ugnal exoeption

of the base. Also called RULL FACKBTED, FULL PATCH, FULL MBTAL CABB amd
BALL AMMUNTI'ION

Bullet Ogive -
Tho aurved forward part of g bullet




Bullet, Hollow Pofnt
A bulle{ with » cavity lo the nose to facilitato
ognglon.

Bu.ﬂat, and and Groove Im.pmslonx
Tho negstive impressions on ths beering
. garface of & Bullet caused by tho rifiing in
ths baryel from which {t wes fired.

Bullet, Semi-wadeniter
A projectle with a distioet, short
trunoatzd cons at the forwerd &, |

Bullet, Wedcutter :
A tylindrical bullet design heving e -
sharp shoutdered poge intended to
cut target paper cloanly w faoilitats
cefy and accurate scoring. | ’

Caliber

ffled barrel,

2. Ammunition; A mumeczical term, without the docimel poun. {nuludnd ina cartrldga

nems to mdlwe the nominal bullet dlamelnr.
Cumelnm

A circumferential groove generally oi'n Jnuried of plain appearance in ¢ bullet or
cortrldge case, Threo uses inctude crimping, fabrication and identification.

Cartridge )

A slngle wiit of ammounition consisting of tho case, pnma', and propellant with ona or

more projectile(s). Alse applies to a ahotsholl,

]
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Cartridge Case Haad

Cartridge Cuse ) ) : » ‘
Tho copteiner for ell the other mponanu which carnprize & omrldge

Cartridge Cass Extractor Groove

An artwuley groove out in rimless, sepad-rimmod,

<ar belted cartridgs cases, forwerd of the bead, " m

for tha purposo of providing & surface that the - . '

extractor may griﬁ 10 romova the cass , .

from the chamhar. . . ‘ :

The bass of the cartridgo case whluh containg the primer.
C_nrtrldge, Centor Firs .
Axy oaxtridge that hes its primer ca:tm] to €ho axdy in the head of fho case,:

Cartridge, Magnum :

Atwmnaodtodascrlbunmﬁ:oorwﬂuﬂmcuﬁdgq onhobhul.l that is Jasges,
contains more shot or produces bighez velogjtias than standard cartridges or shotshalls of
a given caliber or gange. Rifles, bandguns and shotguns that ars dasigned to €ire megaum
* oartridges or skells may alao be dmmibodvdﬂnmeum,MAGN\M

Cartrldge; NATO .
A common dc:)gmdon for 9mm and 7.62 mm ‘N.ATO military cartridges, Thess
cartridges ere produced undar the spaclfications of tho North Atlanto Treaty
Organization, .

A flange-headed cartridge containing E . ]HD
" the priming mixture inside the rim cavity. - -

. Chambering -

L. The muming out of A chamber in the end of & barrel blank or cy}lndcr

2.The mofmacﬂinga caxtrjdge In the chamber.,
Clip -
1. & soparate cartridge conmlmr to rolond mopidly ths mngn:r:!no ofa fireerm. Also callbd
STRIPPBR CLIP.
2, A term gometimes Impropaﬂy used to describe remaovable mngazb.\w.
Comparlson l\dlr.rwcope
msmﬂn]]y W0 micTostopes wunwted to a0 pptical ‘ondgo which allowa the viower to

v
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observe two obj'oas simﬂtﬁeously with the samp degree of magnification, This
instrument can heve & monooular or binacular cyepieou Sometimes refened todsa
COMPARISON MACROSCOPE. )

Componnntor : |

A device attached to or i.utcgml with the muzle end of the barrel to utxhze ptopa).]ing
« gnses for counter-recoil. Also called MUZZLE BRAKE.
. Criminalistics . : ' oo
' An early definition was- “That selence wbjch applies the physical scimcea in the ;
-investigation of crimes.” Derived from the German word Xriminalistik, criminalistios has !
taken on & hroader definition and would be more properly defined as, “That sciance
direoted to the recognition, identification, individualization and evaluation of physicdl
evidence as 1t rélates to some {aw-soience mattor. It also includes the reconstruction of
cvents based on the anelysis of physical evidence, It draws upon-the physcal and natural
sciences to accomplish its mission.

Cylinder

. The rotatable part of a rcvolvur that oontains the chambery,

‘Perringer
- The generic tcrm applied to many veriations of pocketsize pistols, dthmp«cumou or
cértridge, made by mamyfaoturers other than Henry Derringer, up %o present timo,

Dewat
An acronym for Deaotwatcd War']‘mphy.
‘Dlsconnector

A device intended to disengege the sear from the trigger. ln a semiautomatio ﬂreaun ftis -
imtended to prevent full automatxc fixing. S8cme pump acnon shotguns also have '
digconneotors.

Distance Determination

The process of detexmining the distance from the firearm, usnally the muzzls, to the -
target based upon pattemas of gunpowder or gunshot residues deposited upon that target.
‘Whers multiple projectiles, such gs shot, have been fired the spread of those projectiles is
also mrlicanve of distance,

Double Action
A hmdg\.m mechanism in which a single pull of the trigger cocks and releaso the hammmer,
- Dumduan Bu!]et
An obsolete term used to describs & oxpaudmg bullet, Derfves its name from bul!etx
manufactured at the British’ Arsenal in Dumdum, India around 1900,

o



Ejection
- ‘The act of expelling a cartridge cass from a fircarm.
Ejection Pattern

The charting of vyhere a particular firearm sjects fired cartridge cases,
Ejector

A portion of a fireanm"s mechanism which ejeots or expels cartridges or cartridge cases
from & firearm,

Extraction .
The aot of witlidrawing & cariridgo or cartridge case from l.he chm:ubar of & firearm.

Amechanism for withdrawing : =
the cartridge or cartridge case from ' B '
the chamber, ‘

Firearm

An assembly of a barrel and action from which a projoctile(s) is propcllcd by products of
combustioq. [ “lresrm” & defined In Penal Code section 12001, subdlvisions (b), (c) (09 and (8
[different mearings far different purposes). ' .

Firearms Identification

A discipline of forcnsio scionce which has as its pdmm'y concem to dclcrmipo ifa bullet, .
" cartridge case or other ammunition component wes fired by & pa,rtlwla: firearm,

Firing Pin

That paitof a ﬁmmm maohnnism which atrikes the prlmbr ofa oarhidge io lmtitﬂc
jgnition. Sometimes oalted HAMMER NOSE or STRIKER.

Firing Pin Impression

The indentation of the primer of a centerfire ca:tﬁdge case or in the rim ofn nmﬁrq
cartridge case caused when it is struck by the firing pin, .

. Flash Suppmssor

A muzzle attachment designed to reduce muzzle fash. [ Yash sugoressor” &5 defined In
* - regulation, (Cai, Code Regs,, bt 11, subd, (b) A - )

Full Auto . :
A firearm deelgn that feeds cartridges, fires, extracts and ejeols cartddge cases as long as
the trigger is fully depressed and there are eartridges in the feed system, Actuation of the

mechanismn mey be from an internal power source such as gag pressure or ecoil, or
external power source, such as electricity. Also called MACHINE GUN.




-

Puncdon Testing
The oxamination of a firsarm concaming ity mouhnnloal oondlﬁon and operation. It ig
uspally performed to determine if all safety festures’ere openblo wd/or if the firesm is
* oapable of firlng a cartridge, ) ;
Abbravistion for Gunshot Residue. ‘ ’
Generht Rifling Characteristies
I

Tho sumber, width and direotion oftwial of the riffing grooves in ¢ barr) of g glw:n
caliber freaim. . ,

Guushot Restdue - ' ' . !
Tho total wddues‘tuu]dns ﬁnm the discharge of & B:earm. It includea ‘boﬂ: propollant end

-primer resldues, carbonsceous material plus metgllic rewidues from projectiles, ﬂonhng,
nd eny fubrieant assoclated wlth the bul.leh.

L Handgun ' . ‘
A fivearn deslgned to-be hald and tired vnlh ono hend ["handgun” (s defined tn CA Pma!
Cods section 12001, subdivision (a)].
The base 'of the certridge sase which contains ths primor.
Headstamp ) '

" Numerals, letters and symbols (orcombiuaﬂm thereof) staiiped into tho head of 8
cartrddgo caso or shotshell to idsntify the manufsctarer, caliber, gauge ar give addifional
information. - -

Indl\ddua.l Characterbtica

Murks produccd by the random-ixmperfections or h‘rcgu'lnritlm of tool :mfaeu Thesa
random imperfections ot imegularitios aye produced incldental to ‘manvfectars and/or
caused by ugs, corrosion, or damage, They are uniqus to that tonl amd distinguish it from
all btha- tools, .

Land

‘The raised porifon botwoen the
grooves in a rifled bore.



Leyd end Groove Impressfon
Tho negative impressions an the boaring
_ surfyce of e bullet Gaueed by the
rifiing {n Ge barel from which
is was fired,

Length, Overall
!
In @ fircarm it 33 tha dimens{on measured parnilal to the axde of tho bore from muzle to 6
line at sight angles to tho axis end tangeat at the rearmost polit of the butt plate or grip. .

Maguzine
1. A container for castridges which has e spdng and follower to fend these certridges {nto

tho charobar of 8 firsanm. The megazine may be dotachabla or an mtegral part of the

A. BLIND BOX— Ax |ntogral magazing having a porcmnently closcd
bottom., I.oadmg tnd unloeding &ro sccomplished t.b.mugh the samo opem.ng

B. BOX-—AmtmgulurrwsptAcJe attashed to orinscrtcd into a firnarin that
" holds oxriridges lhckcdonwpofommotbamﬂdyfmfchmgmw the -
chember.

C. DETACHABLE — Any of a large atray of megazines which 10 removable
: &umtheﬁmumfarmlo&dm;(wadubbmmﬂm lsdeﬁnadhmlhom.
'» (Cul. Cods Rags,, Bt 12, sec, 5469, subd, (3),)

D, DRUM — Adxmahapodmpﬂmmwhdohmocmdgummgcd
apirally arcund the central mxia of the wind-up mochanism of (he megazing.
Thess were generally Jarga-capadlty magazines, belng usod mogt comsnonly on
submachine guns, Examples: Thompson submachine, gus, Lugvr. Russizn
PPSH and Dogtyarov machine gums,

B. ROTARY — A form of mngnd.nom whiah the om‘trldgee a10 nmmged
- shout a centrel 7oleting spindle or carrier, Bxumplcs. Slvagc Model. 99 md
- Munnllcher riflies.

" R. STAGGERED COLUMN A.b6x magez{ne whlnh, rather then hﬂvi.ug g .
siogle colum of cartridges, hag two columns staggered, This increases the

capadty without lengthening the mégazine, Bxapples; Bmwnh:,g Bi-Péwor and
S&W Modal 59,

G. TUBULAR —~A tubu-ohape:d magazine jn which the cartridges are
arranged end-to~omd. It msy be sither ander the baaed of in the butt stock,

\
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2, A seours storage p_]noe for gunpov&dar, amumunition, or oxplosives.

Magazine Safety
A safoty dovics found on some uominutomaﬂc handguos that provents ﬁnng unless tho
magazine is fally inserted tuto the firearm.

. Micropbotograph

A vory small photogmph. mcmphotogmph is a misnomer for PHOTOMICROGRAPH,

Mazzzle Brake

A device at or in thomnzzleandofabmﬂ that nses thoomorginggasbclﬂnd the
. projectile to reduce recol,

NATO Carttidge

A common deslgnatlon for military caxtxidgbs produced undeér tho spoc{.ﬁcaﬁons of the
Notth ‘Atlantic Treaty Orgamzatxon (NATO). . .

NSS¥
The acronym for Nattonal Shooting Sports Foupdation. , ,
Overall Length
1, Firearm: The dimension measired parallel to the exis of the bore from muzgleto a ling
at right angles to the axds and tangeat at the rexrmost poiut of the butt plate or grip.

2. Ammunition: Ths greatest dimension of & loaded cartridgs, 6., from face of the head
to the tip of the bullet for centerfire or rimfire or to crimp for shotshells or blanka.-Not to
bo confused with Lbe unoriniped length of a shotshell, ~ -
Phetomlcrograph L
' A photograph teken ﬂuough ] miurosioope.
Pistol °
‘A ‘handgun in which the chambm' is part of the barrel. A torm somotimes used for
HANDGUN. .
Pistol, Double Action -
' A pistol mechanism {n which & single pull of the tHigger cocks and rcleasm the hammer.,
Pistol, Sbagle Action

A pistol mechanism, which requires the manval cocking of the hammer o su'lkm' before
pressure on. the trigger releases the ﬁ.nng mechanism.

Powder Stippling
. Small hemorshagic m.a:ks on the ald.n praduced by the :mpac’c of gunpowde:r pmﬁolea, or-
inanimate objects. Also used when reforring any small pits or defects in objects impacted

-
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by unburned nhd partially burned powder particles,
Powder Tattooing
The embedding of parﬂally consumed and unconsumed powder pa.rﬂolbs in the sldn With
2GCOMpERying hmnon‘hngw marks aysociated with [iving skin,
Primer
’ The {goltion component of a cartridgo,
Primer, Centerfire '

A cartridge initiator which {s assembled centval to the axis of the head of the cartridge case
and which is actuated by & blow to the contor of its axds a3 opppsed to drufire which must

be struck on the circumforance.

Primer, Rimfire )
Apdmorsystcm!nwhlchthopdming r . E
" mixture is found in the cireumferential ,4
nmcavity of a particular type of ammunition. ' g

Rnnge of Cuncluaions Possible When Comparing Toolmarks

The examiner i3 encouraged to report thé ohjestive observations that support the findinga
of todlmezk examinations, The examindr should ba oonsarvanve whran rcporﬁ.ug the
su;zﬂﬁoancc of theso observations.

IDENTIFICATION

Agw:mmt ofa combmaﬁon of individuval chamotatisbcs and al] discernible olass -
characteristics whera the extesf of agreement excoeds that which can occurin the |
_comparison of toclmarks made by different tools end i3 consistont with the agreement
demonstrated by toolmarks known to hava been produced by the seme tool.

INCONCLUSIVE

A. Some agreement of individual chamctensﬁc; and al} dlscemible class charﬂctqd.sﬁcs,
but insufficient for en identification, ’

B, Agrosment of all discernible class obaramadsﬁcs without agresment or disagreement of
individual characteristics due to an absence, insufficiency, or lack of reproducibility,

C. Agreement of sl discemabls class charaoteristios and disagreament of individual
charaoteristics, but insufficient for an eliminativa,

ELIMINATION . . ..
A, Siyﬁ_ﬁcant disagrecment of discerhible olass obaracteristics end/or individual

12



cheracteristos,
UNSUYTABLE

. A, Unsuitable for examination.

Recetyer )
The basit unit of a firearm which houses the ﬂﬂng and breech mechanism arid to which
the barrs! and stock are essemblod,
The regrovard moyement of a fiveamn resulting from firing,

Reconstruction
The determination of the sequence of w0 or more evenisin a pa.rﬂcul&r incident utilizing
informetion derived from the physioal evidence, date from the analysis of physical
ovidence, recognized physical lawns and/or infereaces drawn from experimentation relatad

* to the incident under investigation,
Reload

A cartridge which has becn reassembled wxm a new primer, powder, projectile(s) and/or
oﬂmr componemnts.

. Rwolvar

A fircarm, usually a hmdgnn, with a oylinder havmg several chambers so arranged 2s to
rotate sround an axis and be discharged succeasively by the same firlng mechanism, See -
SINGLE ACTION nnd DOUBLE ACTION.

) _Rlcochet

The deflection of a projectile(s) after unpact o s
Ricochet Angle
" The path taken by the r{docheted PIDj ccﬁle or maJor projectile frugmcnts a8 they depan the
{mpacted eurface. .
-Rifle

A firearm having rifling in the bore and designed to bg ﬁred from the Shouldor ["riﬂe" is
defined in Penal Code secﬂon 12020, subd. (0)(20)].. -

Rifling .
Helical grooves m the bore of a firearm barrul to impart rotary moﬁon toa projectﬂe
- SAAMI ", :
The acronym for the Sporting Arms a.ud Ammumﬁon Manufactwers I.nsﬁtutc, Inc i
Safety, Manually Operated <o
Cross Bolt — A type of firearm safety operated by lateral force on a button usually located
in !he trigger guard.
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Grip ~ An auxiHary locking device in the grip of some hundguns whlch provents firing
until it is depressed. Example: US 1911 pistol,

Half Cock ~ This so-called safety is a ‘pear enga.gament which holds the hammer back

" awey from the fidng pin,

" Lever—A type of firearmn safc1y opmtod by the movement of & pivoted lever. Exarople:

Luger pistol. \
Sliding Button — A safety mechanism on a ﬁrearm that is oporated by & gliding. motion
Tang — A safety miounted on the upper receiver tang of a fircarm.

Thumb —~ A safety on a Svedrm 30 located ey to be operated conveniently by the thursb of
the trigger hand. :

Wing —~ A safety found on bolt sction rifles, usvally mounted at thu Y08T vf the bolt

" .assembly, and pivots up and down at-rght anglw 1o the bore line in a matner of a-bird’s
© wing. , .

Shot

Sphmonl pcIlc.ts vsed in Joading ahotshells or cartridges.

Shotgun

A smooth bore sKoulder fiream designod to firs shotshells cuntam[ng Mirnerons pelletsar -’
sometimes a single projectile ["shotgzm” ls deﬁnad in Penal Code section 12020, subd.

@21))-

Shotshell

A cariridge containing projectile(s) designed to be fired in a ahoigtm The cartridge body '
may be metal, plastic or papat. , .

Sﬂmur .

Slamlﬁre

A misleading word used to describe a devico attauhad to the barrel of a firerm designed to
reduce the noiss of dIsch.argo Such & device s more accurately idcntxﬁed as a SOUND
SUPPRESSOR. ,

: Single Action

An aotion requjring the mamnual cocking of the hemmer before suffivient pressure on the
- trigger releages the ﬁﬂng mechanism

The accidental discharge of a firearm upon olosing of the action which niay be due to one
of the following:

1. A firing plu that has stuck and fafled to:otmix. .
" 2. A primer that i3 efther inadequatety seafed or overly sensitive,

3.A weal;c or broken firing pin retaining spring which fuils to overcome the
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inectia of motion imparted to the firing pin duxing closure, thergby allowing the
firing pin to strike the primcr {with sufficlent forcs to cause discharge.
- 4, A fivearm with inudcquate hoadspaoe
Sod.lum Rbrodizonate Test
A mothod of detecting prrmur and lcad bullet residue
Stripper Clip .
.A clip which may hold ﬁom five toten camidgcs and is used to load the magazine of & -

pistol orrifle, In the cast of some rifles, there are clip guides machined into theeceiver to
guids the clip into the pruper posnllon. Also mﬂod ST. .RIPPBR or CHARGER. See CLIP,

Subclass Characteristics .
Discernible surface features of an object which are more restrioﬂve than CLASS
CHARACTERISTICS in that they are: .
oProduced l.neidcntal to mmufaohn .

®Are signiﬂcmﬂ in that thcyrc!ato to a smalJer group source (a subset of’ h‘m class io which
they belong). .

_®wCan arise from g sourpe which chaxiges aver time.

sBxemples would incinde; bunter marks, extrasion marks on pipe, ste.

[Caution should be exeroised In distinguishing subolass characteristics from *

] INDIVIDUAL CHARAC’I‘ERIS’I‘ICS ] . .
‘Sub-Machine Gun ) :

An entomatio or selective fire firearm Dhambored for apislol oartridge. These ﬁrea::ms &10

. pommally compnct. and intonded to bc used at close combntranges ;

.Test-Firing

The term used to d:sigmm the actnal ﬁn.ng of a firearm In n labomtory to obtain
rcpresenixtxvo bullets and cartddge cases for comparison or analysis,

Theory of Ydentification as 1t Relates to Toolmarks

. The theory of identification az it pertains to the comparlson of toolmerks cnables.
opimomrof common otigia to bo made when the umquo surfaos contows of two
- toolmarks are in “sufficient agreemmt. .

2. This “sufficiont agreement” is related to the significant duplication of random
* toolmarks as svidenced by the correspondence of a pattern or combination of
patterns of surface contowrs. Sigaificance is determined by the comparative
exarnination of two or more sets of surface contour patterns comprised of
. individual peaks, fdges and furrows. Specifically, the relative height or depth,

15



width, curvature and spatial relationship of the Individunl peaks, ridges and
furrows within one set of surfees contours ars defined and compared to the
corragponding features in the second set of surfacs contours, Agreament is
significant when it excosds the best agreement demenstrated betwean.tookmearks
known to have béen produced by different tools and is consistant with agreement
demonstrated by toolmarks known to have been produced by the same tool, The
stateraent that “sufficient agreement” exists between two toolmarks meana that the
agreoment {8 of & quentity and quality that the Hkelthsod another too] tould have
‘made the mark i8 so remote a3 to bo covsidered a practical impossibility,

.. 3. Currently the interpretation of individualization/identification is snbjective in
nature, founded on scientific prlnciples and buaed on the sxamixier's training and,
experiencs.

Trigger Pull '
The amount of force which must be appl{ed to the trigger of a fivearm to oause sear
reloase, It is measured with hanging weights or en eppropriate soslo touching the trigger at
a poiut where the trigger finger would normally rest, and vm.h the force applled
approximatolyparallel to the bore axis, ,

Trigger, Halr, .
i Asglang term fora tdgger requl:ingwrylow force to actuate, Sometimes used to dcem‘bc
the Ught p\ﬂ] ofa st:cond trigger in & double set trigger mechamisnr,
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Acronym Finder [A¥].

A & DBook Acquisitions and Di_sposiﬁons record [federal] ‘

AFTE Asgocistion of Firearm and TpoJmarkExmninm
BES o Burcan of Forensio Services - that part of the CA Department of Yustics
{DOJ], Division of Law Bnforoament [DLE] which administers forensio

" DROS  Deslers Record of Salo [gtqt;s]. ' '

‘FFL Federal firearms license or lcensee

: Eorm 4473 | Feda'ra] firearm sale form - ‘

"Nm 4 National Fifcacﬁns Act [federal] |

NICS . National Instant B'ackgxougd.Chock System [federal]

Legal Terms not having Definitions In the AFTE Glossary

Assanlt ‘Weapon * "aggault weapon," which incorporates assanit Tifles, assault shotguns
end agsault pistols, is dofined in both statate (Penal Code sections
12276, 12276.1) and regulation, (Cal, Codo Regy,, tit. 11, seo.
5499.) . :

- Large Capacity Magezino  "large-capaoity magazine® is defined in Pena] Codo sections 12620,

subd, (c)(25), and 12276.1, gubd. ()(2).
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|2008 4450 4
2006 i .8 3
2006 i 1] 2
2006 | 257 2
2006 260 2
2006 Ml 2
2007 45, 35,742
2007 9! 35,205
2007 - 40 31,084
2007 22] 17,748
2007 357] 15,155
2007 38 12,104
2007 . 44 5778
2007 380; 5,222
2007 a54] 4428
2007 t o3t 2,690
12007 ; 10f ... 1,890
2007 2 852
2007 5728 680
2007 460 675!
2007 78l A
2007 500! 480
12007 50 388
12007 0 380
19007 a1 R
12007 762 176!
2007 i 17 167
2007 i 765 133
{2007 223 126
(2007 30 120
2007 I 87
2007 } 3220 .84
2007 475 60:
2007 | 4570 51;
2007 375 RREE
2007 4550 40
2007 7 40
2007 " 8888 36
2007~ T TTaes T T T T,
s007 @80l 0
2007 IS 2
2007 7, 27
12007 635 26
2007 4 22
2007 35 19
2007 ] 2211 18
2007 ) 270 13
2007 T TTeeel A3
12007 % 243 E
12007 | 3 12!
2007 | ) - .
2007 iAo 8



2007 1 250 5
2007 730 4
2007 f 13, k}
2007 256 31
2007 1 445 3
(2007 260 T3
12007 450 ) 2
2007 T 1
2007 L. 31 A
2007 98B
2007 i ....8 L
2008 ol 43,559
2008 [ 481 40840
2008 a0l T 36,199;
12008 22 20,088
12008 L 357] B 16,772
(2008 oo .38 . ...13400i
12008 ! 380; AL
12008 1 441 5947,
(2008 5 4541 . 4,971
2008 G 82 2,78
2008 10; T 2231
12008 | 25 979
2008 1 5728 959
2008y 0L . A8
2008 " 460] 473
2008 500 421}
2008 i 763! 400
2008 % 500 ... 380
2008 | 41 306!
2008 A7 488
2008 T 223 7
2008 i 765] 1
2008 {30 132!
2008 762 123
2008 230 93,
2008 T 475 75
2008 B 67
2008 45700 53
2008 _d8 T A2
2008 g .35 42
(2008 7 - 40
[2008" | RS .38
2008 T ass” T
2008 i . A4BO: 2
12008 <1 I .
foos T Toapt 22
2008 .. 8888 2L
12008 556 20
2008 229 )
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|2009 222] 29
2009 7 R
2009 . 308 22|
2009 1 455 o 22}
2009 1 221 N
5008 T Aga T T Ty
2009 35 15
2009 " | LA 13
2009 54 8
2000 T 248 8
2000 Emoi e
:2009 36 6
2009 - 730 6,
2009 6} 3
2009 250 2,
2009 257 2
{2009 | 260 2
(2009 adsi 2
2009 | 2660 1
12000 264 1!
12009 303 L
12009 31 T
2009 ._398 S 1]
2010 i N 46,319
2010 ) 45 32,146
2010 . 20 30,334)
12010 22; e 19,851
12010 . 357, 13,799
12010 38 12798
2010 oo .o.s80 o 88%
2010 . 44 4467
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2010 | 320 2,150,
12010 100 1,867
12010 5728 984;
12010 ; 250 ] 872
2010 ! 762 672!
2010 0 569
2010 G 322
2010 87 3
2010 T 500 272
2000 T TR0l 254]
12010 Ao .2
2010 556! . .. .23
2010 223 .. 2038
{2010 460 234
12010 78S 228
2010 a7 1%
2010 93! 116!
FrT T B
2010 800 82
2000 o8 79
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** UNEDITED REALTIME TRANSCRIPT - NOT CERTIFIED **

THIS IS A REALTIME ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT. IT IS
NOT CERTIFIED BY THE DEPOSITION OFFICER. PURSUANT TO CCP
SECTION 2025.530(b), IT MAY NOT BE USED, CITED, OR
TRANSCRIBED AS THE CERTIFIED TRANSCRIPT OF THE DEPOSITION
PROCEEDINGS. THE ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT MAY NOT BE CITED
OR USED IN ANY WAY OR AT ANY TIME TO REBUT OR CONTRADICT
THE CERTIFIED TRANSCRIPT OF THE DEPOSITION PROCEEDINGS AS
PROVIDED BY THE DEPOSITION OFFICER.

BY ACCEPTING A ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT, I AM
ORDERING A FINAL CERTIFIED TRANSCRIPT. I AGREE NOT TO
SHARE, GIVE, COPY, SCAN, FAX, OR IN ANY WAY DISTRIBUTE THE
REALTIME ROUGH DRAFT IN ANY FORM (WRITTEN OR COMPUTERIZED)
TO ANY PARTY. HOWEVER, MY OWN EXPERTS, CO-COUNSEL, AND
STAFF MAY HAVE LIMITED INTERNAL USE OF SAME WITH THE
UNDERSTANDING THAT I AGREE TO DESTROY ALL REALTIME ROUGH
DRAFTS AND/OR COMPUTERIZED FORMS, IF ANY, AND REPLACE SAME
WITH THE FINAL TRANSCRIPT AND/OR FINAL COMPUTERIZED FORM,
UPON ITS COMPLETION.

FURTHER EXAMINATION BY MR. DALE

Q Good morning, Mr. Graham. My name's Josh Dale.
You heard me speak a couple times yesterday, but I'm going
to be conducting a portion of this deposition today on

behalf of Plaintiffs.
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anything. I don't think there's anything super secret

that we need to keep the lid on.

identified what we talked about.

MR. DALE:

Okay.

He's pretty much

With that representation,

Mr. -- I'm going to do this again -- Mr. Krause. My

apologies. With that representation, I think we're okay

on that issue. I don't see a need to go any further on

that.

Let's go ahead and --

MR. KRAUSE:
MR. DALE:
MR. KRAUSE:

Can I ask you one guestion?

Yeah.

I sent Clint an e-mail this morning.

One thing Mr. Graham did do was go back and find the

answer key, if you will,

MR. DALE:

Yes.

to the DROS listing.

Do you have a copy of that in

front of you, Mr. Krause?

MR. KRAUSE:

MR. DALE:

I do.

Let's go ahead and mark that as

Exhibit E so we can have it as an exhibit.

MR. KRAUSE:

Mr. Monfort?

MR. DALE:
MR. KRAUSE:
MR. DALE:

Okay.

I did.

Okay.

Did you -- so you got it from

And this will be a document that, at

the top, says "AFS Gun Caliber Table" with a date of

July 23, 2010; is that right?

MR. KRAUSE:

Yes.

Page 7
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THE WITNESS: Correct.

MR. DALE: Let's go ahead and mark that as
Exhibit E, and we'll attach that to the record.

MR. KRAUSE: Okay. Okay. There's one for the
court reporter.

Do you have a copy?

THE WITNESS: I don't have a copy with me, no.

MR. KRAUSE: Okay.

MR. DALE: Well, you know what. I don't plan to

ask any questions about that right away. I just want to

make sure that we're keeping all our ducks in a row, so if
we want to get a copy of that a little later today, that's
fine.

MR. KRAUSE: Okay.

MR. DALE: We'll take care of it as part of
housekeeping matters.

MR. KRAUSE: Okay.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Mr. Blake (sic), yesterday,
as you pointed out, you were asked a lot of gquestions
about different cartridges and calibers. One of the
things you testified about was the method you used in
order to establish the calibers and what we've now
transitioned to is cartridges that you were including as
part of what we've termed the DOJ caliber 1list?

Do you remember that testimony?
A Yes.
Q Okay. And I believe you said you used Exhibit D,

the DROS records, as sort of a starting point for helping
Page 8



19
20
21
22
23
24

25

12-02-10
to compile that list; correct?
A Yes.
Q And then you moved on and you used a book called
Cartridges of the World; correct?
A Correct.
Q Okay. And ~- and do you have that -- a copy of

that book in front of you?

A I do.
Q Okay. And I want to make sure we're working
under the same edition.

What edition do you have in front of you?

A It says the 12th edition.

The 12th edition. Okay. Very good.

Now, after you went -- let's talk a little bit
about how you went through the DROS records.

So you went through the DROS records and you
looked for calibers as they're listed in the DROS records.
Specific types of weapons that had been purchased --
specific types of handguns; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's prior testimony.

MR. DALE: Well, let's back up and make shire we
have this right.

Q You went through the DROS records and the DROS
records list either specific calibers or, in some
instances, specific cartridges used by handguns that were
the subject of this DROS records; is that correct?

Page 9
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A That sounds pretty -- pretty close to the -- you
know --
Q In other words, yesterday, we -- we had this

discussion about whether caliber was appropriate or

cartridges was appropriate, and one of the things I

10

believe you testified to was that in some instances, the
DROS records would list sales by caliber, and in other
instances they would have listings which would indicate a
particular cartridge that was used with that handgun sold;
is that right?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's prior testimony.

THE WITNESS: The DROS -- the -- the -- what
that -- the -- I forget. 1It's Exhibit D. If I can look
at it right now, I'll be able to answer your question a
little better.

MR. DALE: Go right ahead.

THE REPORTER: I have it. Just one moment.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

Okay. So I'll try to summarize what this
document provides some information on just so we start
fresh on the new day with what I believe I said yesterday
and what I would continue to say now, is this document
shows handgun transactions, meaning sales or transfers,
between individuals in specific calibers and cartridges,
in some case -- cases. That -- the specific numbers --
you know, it's broken down by year and then the count of

the individual transactions on those handguns.
Page 10
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0] BY MR. MONFORT: Yeah, let me see if I can't

short circuit this.

11

Do you have what we have now -- oh, you don't.
You don't have Exhibit E in front of you.

Mr. Krause, would it be a problem to go ahead and
get Exhibit E? I think we'll probably -- we'll use it to
kind of shorten up this portion of the testimony.

MR. KRAUSE: Exhibit E being the thing that was
produced this morning?

MR. DALE: Correct.

MR. KRAUSE: Yeah, we have it.

MR. DALE: Oh, it was the AFS gun caliber table,
yes.

MR. KRAUSE: Yeah, we have that.

MR. DALE: Okay. Go ahead and, if you could, put

that in front of Mr. Graham side by side with the Exhibit

D.
MR. KRAUSE: 1It's in front of him.
MR. DALE: Perfect.
Q If you look on the first page of Exhibit E, one

of the gun caliber codes on the left-hand side is .457?

Do you see that, Mr. Graham?
A Yes.
0 And next to that under what's called gun caliber
description or DESC, there's a listing, it looks like, of
four different cartridges of what would be .45 caliber
ammunition; is that correct?

Page 11
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12
A Yes.
0 Okay. So we have .45 ACP, .45 Auto Rim, .45
Short/Long Colt, and .45 Winchester Mag, right?
A Correct.
Q And on the DROS records on Exhibit D, all of the
sales of weapons which used those cartridges are just
listed under .45; correct?
A Correct.
Q Okay. But, for example, if you then move down to
55, the -- on Exhibit E under gun caliber, it says 55.

And then you look next to it. There's only one cartridge
listed. That's the 5.5-millimeter Velo Dog; correct?
A Correct.
0 Would it be fair to say that, in some instances,
the codes that are listed in the DROS records in Exhibit D
will refer to more than one cartridge within a given
ammunition, and in other instances, those codes will just
refer to a gun that uses one type of cartridge?
MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Calls for speculation.
THE WITNESS: The -- yeah, the breakdown here,
again, is for dealers to make the entries and it's -- it's
something to -- makes it a little simpler for them to
identify the type of weapon that they're selling to a
particular person. You know, the reason that there are

multiples under some of the caliber listing is just to

13
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give some sample rounds that are out there that would fit

into that same

Q BY MR.
actually, I'1ll
gun guy, so it
here?

Under

testifying to,
question. I'm
Under

caliber table,

block of rounds, if that makes sense.

DALE: Okay. So -- well, let me --
be frank with you, Mr. Graham. I'm not a
-- I'm going to need a little clarification
the .45 ACP, if I -- is this what you're

that -- well, let me withdraw that
going to restate it.
the .45 gun caliber listing on the AFS gun

are you saying that the .45 ACP, the .45

Auto Rim, the .45 Short/Long Colt and the .45 Winchester
Mag would all fit in the same .45 caliber weapons? In
other words, they're interchangeable?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Calls for speculation.
Q BY MR. DALE: If you know.
A They wouldn't necessarily fit because of, you
know, head space issues, so the -- you know, again, it's
going to depend upon gun by gun by gun, so the -- again,

this is a list

that's used for guns. It's not necessarily

created to be exact and specific down to a scientific

level for ammunition.

starting point

Q Correct.

So there's -- again, this was a
just to have a place to start from.

I -- and I understand that. I just

want to make sure we're all operating off the same

understanding.

14
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So just to be clear, when the DROS records say

a .45 caliber weapon was brought, that could be one of
several cartridges. Specifically, that particular weapon
could take one of the four cartridges that's listed under
45 on Exhibit E; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Calls for speculation. Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: The dealers are able to pick, you
know, the appropriate -- what they think the appropriate
caliber for the specific weapon that they're selling based
on this list, and they might have others that they feel --
that aren't listed that would have -- you know, be
applicable. And this is not an all inclusive --
obviously, there's -- there are many more cartridges out
there, and this is just meant to help the dealers fill out
the -- the computer screen and to get their customers out
the door in a timely manner. It's not an absolute, you
know, this is everything that's out there type of list.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. So if I understand your
testimony correctly, your understanding of Exhibit D is
that it's essentially a list that the dealers helped
generate based on their understanding of the type of
weapon they're selling to the customer; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the

15

witness's testimony.
THE WITNESS: We were just talking about Exhibit
E, and then you just said Exhibit D, so I want to make

sure I answer it correctly, sir.
Page 14



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

10
11

12-02-10
Exhibit E?
A Yes. They were -- they were listed there as a

way to help further identify cartridges for the dealers

that --
Q I see. OQOkay. Thank you I appreciate --

MR. KRAUSE: He wasn't finished answering. Could
you --

MR. DALE: I apologize. Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, I thought I'd actually
already answered this, I guess, over the last ten minutes
or so, but I -- that's the purpose of this, is just to
help the dealers identify the guns so that -- can go into
the DROS system which then hits the automated firearms
system.

Q BY MR. DALE: I see. Well, thank you for

clearing it up. As Mr. Krause will tell you, for some

18

people, these are all widget. So this is -- these are all
widgets to me. I appreciate that.

So in other words, the dealers, when they are
going to classify a sale in the DROS system, they can pull
up this drop-down menu and it will list these four
examples of cartridges within handguns they sell which
might be appropriate for that particular classification;
is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's testimony.

THE WITNESS: I think as I previously testified,

Page 17



12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

10
a3t
12
13

14

12-02-10
I itself's basically a guideline to help them, you know,

put the information into the system as they're required to
do. And if they find something that's -- they think is
similar but maybe not listed, they might call and verify,
hey, what should I put this in as? Or they're going to
click the appropriate box on the drop-down menu to
populate that field.
Q BY MR. DALE: I see. So -- I just want to make
sure. I think we're on the same page, but -- but again, I
keep getting objections that I'm not quite getting this
right, so I want to make sure we are?

So these are listings that dealers may select,
but they don't necessarily have to select when they're

help -- when they're filling out electronically the DROS

19

form as part of ringing up a customer sale?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's prior testimony.

I don't think he testified that -- that they can
drop down any of these calibers -- drop down any of those
particular cartridges on the DROS system, but I could be
wrong.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, the way i1t happens is if they
pick 45, it's any one of those 45 or other 45s would be
lumped in there. It's not -- like I said, it's not a
scientific down to each individual cartridge. It's --

MR. KRAUSE: Based on the gun?

THE WITNESS: 1It's based on the gun and can --

can the -- what's the most accurate thing available, given
Page 18
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the field length in the system and, you know, there are
limitations due to the programming, as I understand and
have been told; that, you know, we can't have 1,500
versions of the 45 listed here for the dealer to put the
exact cartridge in just because of space ¢oncerns in the
computer programming.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. So would it be failr to say,
then, in this example in Exhibit E of cartridges which
would fall under a particular caliber, there are some
cartridges that might fall under a particular caliber that

aren't listed simply due to space reasons?

20

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Asked and answered. If
there's anything else you can add --

THE WITNESS: Nothing new. I have answered that.

MR. DALE: Madame Court Reporter, can you go
ahead and read back that question? I don't know that I
got a yes or a no to it, and I'd really like a ves or no
to it.

THE REPORTER: Sure.

(The following was read back as requested:

Question: Okay. So would it be fair to

say, then, in this example in Exhibit E

of cartridges which would fall under a

particular caliber, there are some

cartridges that might fall under a

particular caliber that aren't listed

simply due to space reasons?)
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MR. KRAUSE: He -- I believe the witness

explained in great deal three or four times what the --
Exhibit E shows. If there's anything he can add, it's not
a yes or a no guestion,

MR. DALE: Okay. Are you instructing your --
your witness not to answer, Mr. Krause?

MR. KRAUSE: No, I'm not. I'm instructing him to
answer to the extent he has any additional information

that hasn't been provided three times already.

21

MR. DALE: Okay. Well, it sounds like you're
testifying on his behalf, and I'd really appreciate if you
wouldn't do that.

I -- all I would like is a simple yes or no
answer. It is, in fact, a yes or no gquestion. It
requires an affirmation or a declination of an
affirmation, and so I'm going to have the court reporter
read it back one more time and either he can give me a vyes
or a no or I don't know or -- you know, those would be
appropriate responses.

So Madame Court Reporter, can you go ahead and
read that guestion back, please?

THE REPORTER: Yes.

(The following was read back as requested:

Question: Okay. So would it be fair to

say, then, in this example in Exhibit E

of cartridges which would fall under a

particular caliber, there are some

cartridges that might fall under a
Page 20
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particular caliber that aren't listed
simply due to space reasons?)
MR. KRAUSE: Same objections.
To the extent you can add anything to your prior
answers. ..

THE WITNESS: Mr. Dale, my answer is such -- as I

22

believe I've previously testified, space was a concern in
this field, and there was -- there just wasn't enough
space to list out every single cartridge pertinent to the
numbers on the left side in the first column.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. ©So would it be fair, the
thing I said, would it be fair to characterize it that way
or would it not be fair to characterize it that way?
A I think I just answered that. Yes. 1It's --
there's not enough space.
Q Okay. Terrific. And that's all I was looking
for. And hopefully if we come upon these issues again in
the future, maybe we can kind of short circuit the
process. And again, I'm not trying to belabor this
process or make it any longer, so I will move forward now
that I've gotten that answer.

All right. So you, at some point, pulled up the
DROS list and got -- and among the listings and, in fact,
one of the top listings for 2006 was the .45 caliber,
correct, Mr. Graham?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony.
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Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: Looking at Exhibit D, page one, the

top line, 45 has the highest sale amount.

Q BY MR. DALE: For 2006; correct?

23
A Yes, sir.
Q Okay. And so I want to walk you through the
process that you went to then make a determination that
this is -- this particular type of ammunition indicated by

the 45 is principally used in handguns, so I'm not trying
to trick you here. I just want to walk you through the
process.

So at the point, then, that you used the DROS
list as a starting point, for example, the 45, what was
the next step that you took, then, to try to determine
whether or not the ammunition for that particular caliber
weapon was principally used in handgun?

A Basically, I went to the Cartridges of the World
reference manual, reviewed the -- you know, the entries
for some of the 45 rounds and read the round descriptions
in there, coupled that with the personal experience with
firearms over the years and, you know, that's -- that was
kind of the second phase, if you will.

Q Okay. Let's talk about that second phase a
little bit. We'll kind of do this in two parts.

You said you coupled that with your personal
experience. Let's talk a little bit about your personal
experience with .45 caliber handguns.

And let me ask you this. Are there any .45
Page 22
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caliber rifles that you're aware of?

24

A Yes, I think you guys have been provided with

a -- kind of a short list of some .45 caliber nonhandguns
that I identified during the course of the research.

Q Would that be the Cheaper Than Dirt Web site
printout?

A No. 1It's —-- let's see. One, two, three -- about
an hour page document. The very first, I guess,
identifier on it would be .45 ACP and there's a two next
to it.

Do you see that?

Q Taking a look here. I apologize. I've got a lot
of papers in front of me. I -- you know, I do not see
that. Hold on one moment.

I'm sorry. Can you tell me what the top of that
particular document reads?

MR. KRAUSE: There -- it was provided along with
all the other documents he relied on. 1It's, as he
mentioned, a four page document. On the very first page,
there's three column headings, .45 ACP, nine-millimeter
and ten-millimeter. There's only text at the very top
quarter of the document. The rest of the first page is
blank. You can recognize it by all the blank space.

MR. DALE: Okay. Like lots of the paper we
generate, there's not much -- a lot of it goes to waste,

is that right, Mr. Krause?
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A Well, there's -- yeah. Are you speaking of

the .45 ACP or what specific --

Q I'm talking about any type of .45 caliber
cartridge.
A Yes, there are multiple -- you know, multiple

firearms out there that are not handguns that use a .45
caliber round.

Q Okay. So based on your -- let's get back to the
personal experience that you used as part of step two.

Based on your personal experience it sounds like,
and you can either confirm or deny this, that your
understanding is there are a lot more 45 handguns than
there are 45 rifles; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

Q BY MR. DALE: Well, let's break it down, then.

You said that you used your personal experience
based upon your understanding of the use of both the .45
caliber in general and then we're talking specific
cartridges like .45 ACP.

What's your experience with regard to handguns
that shoot .45 ACP? I mean, how many handguns of those
have you, for instance, yourself, fired in your
experience? And I'm talking about different models.

A Different models of handguns that shoot the 45.

Well, several variants of the 1911 style pistol. I

27

carried an H & K USP for a few years, so I fired that
extensively. I own a Kimber 45. You know, I -- an exact
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number, I don't know. Around ten.

Q Okay. Okay. And what is your -- the personal
experience that you used to help you as the second step
that you've testified to, was part of that personal

experience your actual use in and firing of .45 caliber

handguns?
A Yes.
Q Okay. What additional parts of your personal

experience did you use to help inform you about whether or
not .45 caliber ammunition handguns -- or I'm sorry, .45
caliber ammunition would be appropriately included on the
DOJ's caliber list?

A Basically, weapons that I have seized; other
members of the Department of Justice have seized during
the course of, you know, criminal investigations; weapons
that I've seen for sale at gun shows, gun stores; I read,
you know, various gun magazines which detail, you know,
different types of firearms and ammunition used in those
weapons. That type of stuff.

Q So would it be fair to say that all of these
personal experiences that you've just described helped
inform your choice as part of the second step of

determining whether .45 caliber ammunition was properly

28

included on the DOJ's list?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Let's talk a little bit about weapons for
sale. You said you've observed weapons for sale.

Approximately -- again, I want your best
Page 26
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estimate. I don't want a guess.

How many .45 caliber handguns have you personally
observed for sale in your experience?

MR. KRAUSE: Don't guess. Just give your best
estimate.

THE WITNESS: An estimate, I mean, between the
gun shows, the gun stores, online where I've seen Web
sites trying to sell, you know, various handguns, probably
in the thousands.

Q BY MR. DALE: Thousands. Okay. Are we

talking -- are we talking five figures here? Would it be
more than 10,0007

A Well, I mean, I don't know if -- if I've gone to
a particular gun show and then I saw, six months later,
the same gun dealer at the same show, I can't say for sure
it was a different gun. It might have been the same exact
gun with -- you know, based on the serial number on the
weapon, so I'm just -- I'm trying to give you a number
here. And again, typically on Web sites, you're not privy

to the serial number of a particular weapon.

29

Q Okay. Okay. So we're talking about both guns
that you observed for sale, which may be the same gun, but
also could be a different gun, at both gun shows and on
Web sites; is that correct?

A Gun shows, gun stores and, yeah, Web sites that
offer firearms for sale.

Q Okay. So to the best of your recollection, and
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Q BY MR. DALE: Yes.

A Okay. Guns and Weapons For Law Enforcement, Guns

and Ammo. There's a few others that I peruse, but I --

off the top of my head, those are the two that I recall.

Q Okay. Now, at some point, you were asked by the

DOJ to help actually put together the answers that were --

ended up being verified as Exhibit B; correct?

A Exhibit B? Let me flip to Exhibit B. Stand by.
Is it here in this stack or --

Q It's the special interrogatories. Let me know

when you have them.

A Okay, sir.

Q Okay. Now -- so at some point, you were asked to

32
help review and verify the responses that ended up being
produced here as Exhibit B; correct?

A Yes.

Q Okay. How long ago were you asked to do that?
MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

Q BY MR. DALE: Was 1t six months ago? Three

months ago? One month ago?

A No, I would say -- the final verification took

place on November 23rd, the day I signed it.

Q Okay. And prior to that, did you do any research

or investigation to help inform your answer in verifying
that? In other words, did you go back and look at
Cartridges of the World or Web sites or anything like that
to help formulate that answer?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
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What answer are we talking about?

MR. DALE: I'm talking about any and all answers
within Exhibit B.

MR. KRAUSE: Oh.

MR. DALE: That he helped -- that he helped
prepare or otherwise helped you prepare on behalf of the
DOJ.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, I've -- I've -- I mean, I've
looked at the -- this is the second version of Cartridges

of the World that I've had, so I've looked at that over

33

the last, I don't know, year or so just because of other
projects within the DOJ that had nothing to do with this
particular lawsuit.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay.
A You know, I -- I continually try to look at
different ammunition and handguns and other firearms just
to further educate myself because of the job that I do.
Q Okay. But with specific regard to making sure
you gave your best and fullest answer on the DOJ's behalf
for this particular set of interrogatories, do you recall
specifically being asked to help them verify these
responses?
MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
THE WITNESS: I guess -- I'm not sure what you
mean by them.
Q BY MR. DALE: I'm talking specifically about your
employers, the Department of Justice, and Mr. Krause?
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A Okay. Yes, I would say in the last two weeks or

so, you know, some --

Q Okay. So within the last two weeks, did you
review any gun magazines to help you verify the responses
or prepare for this deposition?

A Specific gun magazines? I don't recall looking
at a magazine. I think we would have produced something

like that to you if -- if I had. I don't remember doing

34

any -- doing that.
Q Okay. So from the time period you were asked to

help verify the accuracy of the responses in Exhibit B up

till today, is -- is there any specific magazine that you
can recall reviewing to help -- to help you verify those
responses?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Asked and answered.
THE WITNESS: Yes, I -- I think I've answered it,
sir. I don't recall. And if we -- if I had, we would
have provided you with a copy, you know, for your
discovery requests.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. So you don't recall
reviewing a specific magazine?
A No.
Q Okay. ©So at any time within the past year, can
you recall reviewing a magazine which listed popular
ammunition counts in it?
A I may have reviewed a magazine that had that
information in it, but I don't recall -- you know, it's

not something that I made a notation on or, you know,
Page 32
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stored it away for -- you know, for that particular
reason. I get magazines in the mail and I'll read them.
I have one on my desk that's unopened I got this
morning -- or got sometime yesterday. It's still sealed

in a little mailing package.

35

Q So 1f I asked you to cite a particular article
that you used to help inform your decision as part of your
second step of determining whether .45 is appropriately
included on the DROS caliber -- I'm sorry, on the DOJ's
caliber list, you couldn't cite for me a specific article
you relied upon; is that correct?
A That is correct.
Q Okay. And within the past year, you can't recall
any specific article by publication name or by author name
or by date of publication that specifically listed popular
types of ammunition that were being sold or bought; is
that correct?
A Yes.
Q Okay. So other than your general reading of
magazines over the years, there's no specific information
within magazines that you can point me to that helped
inform your decision regarding that second step of
determining whether .45 caliber ammunition was properly
included on the DOJ's caliber list; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Misstates the witness's prior testimony.

THE WITNESS: I don't know that -- how that
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question is different than the last one, sir.

Q BY MR. DALE: Well, whether you understand are

not, is that true? That you can't point to me a

36

particular magazine article that you used to help you as
part of formulating your opinion regarding whether .45
caliber ammunition is appropriately included on the DOJ's
caliber list?
A I believe I've already answered this, but I -- I
can't recall any specific magazine articles that I used.
Q Okay. Very good. I appreciate that.

And then one of the things you said you looked at
are various gun Web sites and your counsel was kind enough
to produce some of them.

One of those was Cheaper Than Dirt; is that

correct?
A Yes.
Q Okay. And can we --

Mr. Krause, do you have a copy of that that we
could, perhaps, mark as an exhibit?

MR. KRAUSE: Yes.

MR. DALE: Let's go ahead and mark the one that
has the November 30, 2010. It's a two-page document. Oh,
they all have November 30, 2010. Okay. Let's --

MR. KRAUSE: Yeah, I have them all bundled as
one.

MR. DALE: Let's go ahead and mark them as one
exhibit, then. That will hopefully help make it a little

easier. And we'll mark it as Exhibit F.
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THE WITNESS: Okay. Mr. Dale, can we pause for a

second? The -- I don't think we have, actually, a number
E marked -- or letter E marked yet and I don't want to
get --

MR. KRAUSE: The court reporter hasn't had time
to do it yet.

THE WITNESS: Yeah. Can we take just a second to
do that and we can move on?

MR. DALE: Yeah, absolutely. No problem. And by
the way, if anybody on that side of the line, including
the witness, needs time to take a break, just please let
me know. I'm happy to do it.

THE WITNESS: Okay. I'm happy to continue, I
just want to get the markings of the items --

MR. DALE: ©No, and I appreciate that. I
appreciate your diligence.

THE WITNESS: E will be the AFS gun caliber
table, correct, Mr. Dale?

MR. DALE: Correct.

THE WITNESS: Okay. And then the Cheaper Than
Dirt stack, that's going to be F, as in Frank?

MR. DALE: I'm sorry. I understand you were
asking a question. I stepped out for a second. Go ahead
a repeat your question, please.

THE WITNESS: I was just confirming that you want

38
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the Cheaper Than Dirt stack of papers labeled letter F.

MR. DALE: That is correct.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

MR. DALE: Thank you very much.

THE WITNESS: Okay. The court reporter's been
provided a copy of both, and then I've got working copies
or, you know, same thing over here.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Well, if yvou're ready to
proceed, then, I'll ask yvou some questions regarding
Exhibit F.

A One question, sir. Did -- did you guys ever find
the -- just so I don't -- we don't skip ahead, the --

MR. KRAUSE: Oh, that's not E.

THE WITNESS: There's the Excel spreadsheet that
has the .45 ACP and then the different calibers going from
left to right. 1It's about four pages long.

Did you guys ask for that to be marked? Because
I don't think we ever marked it and I don't remember you
guys =--

0] BY MR. DALE: Yeah. Yeah, we did find it. I
will go ahead and probably mark it as a later exhibit.

A Okay. Thank you. I'll --

Q Since we didn't do any specific guestions about
it, I'll go ahead and wait.

A I'll set that aside, then.

39

Q Thank you. I appreciate that.
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A Okay. Now we're on to F, so...
Q So my understanding of Exhibit F, and I want to
make sure you guys have the same one we have. There's two
different printouts from the Cheaper Than Dirt Web site,
both of which are dated at the bottom right-hand corner
November 30th, 2010.

Is that what you have in front of you,
Mr. Graham?
A Yes, it looks that way.
Q Okay. And so Cheaper Than Dirt was one of the
Web sites that you used to help inform this second step
that you took to determine whether .45 ammunition was
appropriately included on the DOJ's caliber list; correct?
A Yes.
Q In fact, the Web pages that are represented on
the printouts that are Exhibit F are, in fact, the exact
Web pages that you went to to help inform that opinion;
correct?
A They are representative of the date that I caused
these to be printed just to be able to provide you with
something, per your request.
Q Okay. But -- but at some point within the last,
let's say, month or so, as part of your -- helping inform

your opinion, you went to these two particular Web pages,

40

right? Notwithstanding number --
A Not withstanding what?
Q The November 30th date that's on the lower
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right-hand corner. Sometime prior to that, you went to

the two Web site pages that are -- that your counsel has
produced as -- and we've now marked as Exhibit F in order
to help inform your opinion?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Thank you. I apologize. That was a
little convoluted. Thank you for sticking with me there,
Mr. Graham.

A Okay.

0 Based on your review of those Web sites at that
time and looking at Exhibit F now, is there anything on
Exhibit F that pops out at you that looks different from
what you reviewed back when you viewed these Web sites n
order to help inform the opinions you're giving today?

A You know, I can't say for sure nothing has been
changed because I know Web sites may fluctuate. They
might change a price or something like that, but in

general, it looks similar.

0 Okay. It looks similar. All right.
Well, then -- so were there any other Web
sites -- well, let me -- I don't want to ask that

question. Let me go through some of the other exhibits

41

that your counsel produced.
Do you have in front of you a document -- and it

may already be marked as part of Exhibit F, so I want to

confirm it -- something that says Cabela's Ammunition at
the top?
A Yes, I see that.
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MR. DALE: Okay. Mr. Krause, is that already
marked as part of Exhibit F.

MR. KRAUSE: Yes, it's all one big bundle.

MR. DALE: Terrific.
Q And then do you have something in front of you
that says at the top "Ammunition/Shop Premium and Discount
Ammunition at Midway USA"?
A Yes, sir.
Q Okay. And then I just want to confirm, I don't
have any other Web site printouts that were produced by
your counsel in front of me.

Mr. Krause, were these all the Web site printouts
that you produced?

MR. KRAUSE: I don't have it in front of me. No,
it looks like there's one more, J & G Sales.

MR. DALE: Yes, I actually do have that. My
apologies.
Q Okay. So Mr. Graham, in front of you, do you

have a document which says ammo for handguns on top? And

42

then in the -- sort of the title bar blow that, it says
J & G Sales firearms/ammunition/accessories?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. So all of these documents that we've just
discussed, the J & G Sales, the Cabela's, the midway USA
document and the Cheaper Than Dirt, these were all Web
sites that you used to help you as part of this second
step of confirming that .45 caliber ammunition was
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properly included in the DOJ's caliber list; is that

correct?
A Yes.
Q Were there any other Web sites besides those that

we've marked as Exhibit F that you used in order to help

inform your opinion?

A I'm trying to think if there's -- I think maybe
the -- not an ammunition vendor, if you will.
Is that -- are you limiting your question to

ammunition vendors or sellers Web sitesg?

Q I'm limiting my question to any Web sites that
would be accessible to the public that you used in helping
form this second step. So, again, I'm not trying to trick

you. I'm just trying to make sure I'm covering all of

them?
A Okay. I would say -- possibly the -- yeah,
that's -- that seems like it's the right Web site list.

43
Q Okay. All right. And let me ask you, what
particular information on these Web sites -- and you can
go ahead and take a look at Exhibit F -- did you rely upon

to help make your determination that .45 caliber

ammunition was properly included on the DOJ's caliber

list?
A Some of the -- basically, some of the calibers
and cartridges listed here on the Cheaper Than Dirt -- it

says page one of two, so I'm speaking about the one that
says most popular handgun ammunition is kind of a second

column or block of rounds below that. The .45 ACP is
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listed in the most popular section. Down a little bit
farther down is the .45 Long Colt. You know, that type of
information there. The 45 GAP.
Q Okay. Did you, at any point, contact the
administrators of this Web site or the owners of the
Cheaper Than Dirt Web site to find out what they meant
about most popular?
A No.
Q No.

Did you do any other type of independent
investigation to determine whether or not Cheaper Than
Dirt's representation of what the most popular ammunition
they sold was an accurate representation?

A Did I contact other Web sites? Is that what your

44

question was?

Q Did you do anything to find out? So contact

other Web sites, call the owner, call a competing Web site

and find out that Cheaper Than Dirt's reputation regarding

what its most popular ammunition ﬁype sold was an accurate

representation?

A No. I made no other -- no phone calls to

ammunition vendors to check on the wvalidity of Cheaper

Than Dirt's, I guess, statements that they make.

Q Okay. And then let's look at the J & G Sales.
What part of this particular Web site did you

rely upon to help formulate your opinion that .45 caliber

ammunition was appropriately included on the DOJ's caliber
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list?

A The section here that says ammo for handguns and
it gives a listing of various rounds, there's a portion of
it that says .45 ACP, 45 GAP and 45 LC, which I understand
to be long Colt.

Q Okay. And again, you didn't contact the
proprietors of J & G Sales, either the store or Web site,
to determine how they came up with this particular
listing; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And would it be fair to say that,

similarly true, you didn‘'t contact the proprietors of

45

Cabela's or midway USA to determine how they ended up
listing those calibers on their Web sites?
A That's correct.
Q Okay. Now, I note that on each of those, there
aren't listings of how much of each ammunition is sold.

Is that a correct representation?
A Yeah, I don't -- I didn't see anything like that

when I was perusing the sites and I don't think there's
that type of information at least on any site I've seen in
the past.

Q Okay. So would it be fair to say that you don't
know, even though they're characterizing this stuff as
popular, exactly how much of each ammunition they're
selling?

A Yeah, based on their Web sites, I can't tell you

an exact round count.
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Q Okay. Now, let's go back and take a look at the
Cheaper Than Dirt Web site printout that's part of Exhibit
F. And specifically, looking under handgun ammunition,
that's the page that you previously testified to that has
most popular and below that has handgun ammunition.

Do you see that Web page?
A Yes, sir.
Q Okay. And one of the handgun ammunitions listed

is .45 Long Colt; correct?

46

A Yes.

Okay. MNow, .45 Long Colt, I guess, is fired in

f@)

a .45 caliber handgun; is that right?
Correct.
Can it also be fired in a .45 caliber rifle?

I believe so.

Lo S © T

Okay. Did you ever contact anybody to find out
why .45 Long Colt was being included on the Cheaper Than
Dirt's handgun ammunition listing if it could be fired in
both a handgun and a rifle?

A No.

Q Okay. And did you ever find out if, for example,
Cheaper Than Dirt sells more .45 Long Colt ammunition for
firing in rifles than it does for firing in handguns?

A No.

Q Okay. And then let's go down below that because
I want to ask you a guestion.

Nine by 23-millimeter Winchester, that's
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ammunition that's fired in a nine-millimeter pistol;

correct?
A Yes.
Q Okay. Let me ask you. You testified previously

that you used an MP5 machine gun as part of the weapons

that you've been issued through the DOJ; is that right?

47

A Yes, submachine gun.

Q Okay. Does that take a nine by 23 round or does
that take a different round?

A Takes a different round.

Q What type of nine-millimeter round does it take?
A It takes a nine by 19 Luger or Parabellum is

another way to say it.
Q Okay. But that's being fired out of your pub
machine gun, right? Not a pistol?
A It can be fired in a pistol.
Q Right, but when you're firing it, you're firing
it out of a submachine gun mostly; correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
testimony. Vague and ambiguous.

MR. DALE: You're absolutely right, Mr. Krause.
I'll withdraw that and re-ask it.
Q When you were firing that particular cartridge of
ammunition out of your MP5, that MP5 you were firing it
out of was a submachine gun, not a pistol; correct?
A Yes.
Q Okay. Now, I note at the top of the Cheaper Than

Dirt Web site under the most popular that you previously
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were aware that some police and law enforcement agencies

use the MP5; correct?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Did you ever go out and find out how many
MP fives had been issued to law enforcement agencies?

A No, sir.

Q Okay. And did you find out how many rounds that
law enforcement agencies may fire out of their MP fives as
part of tactical operations or training?

A No, sir.

Q Okay. And did you consider the fact that MP5
uses nine-millimeter handgun ammunition to be a factor
that would suggest that it was appropriately included on
the DOJ's caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, can you rephrase that,
please?

Q BY MR. DALE: Yeah. Yeah. What I want to find
out 1s whether or not the fact that what you've classified
as handgun ammunition is used in a submachine gun was any
sort of factor in you determining that the nine-millimeter
caliber should not be included on the DOJ's caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: 2And I think I've already stated
that I considered that weapon and the fact that it fired
the -- the nine-millimeter round as part of my evaluation.
0 BY MR. DALE: Okay. But -- but if I understand

your testimony correctly, you didn't find out how many of
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those weapons were out there firing that round as part of
making your determination; i1s that correct?

A Yes, that's correct.

Q And you didn't find out how many rounds were
being fired out of that weapon as part of your
determination; correct?

A Correct.

Q Okay. Let's take a look -- I want to kind of

transition here. Let's take a look at the statute.

61

Have you had an opportunity to review the statute

that's at issue in this lawsuit?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

Which statute are you talking about?

MR. DALE: I'm sorry. Specifically, Penal Code
section 12060.

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. We'll go ahead and pull it.
And just so we're operating on the same page here, it
says -- okay. It says handgun ammunition -~ hold on one
sec.

Do you know what subdivision this is? Okay.
This is A? Okay. All right. Hold on one sec.

(Off-the-record discussion.)
Q BY MR. DALE: All right. I'm getting a copy of
that. I apologize. So let's move on to another issue so
we don't waste time here. And I apologize for the delay.
Let's go back to Exhibit F for a second.
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One of the listings on the Cheaper Than Dirt Web

62
gite under the handgun ammunition, can you go ahead and
turn to that page for me?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. One of the listings on there is .30 Luger.
Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Now, if I understand your prior testimony

correctly, part of the method that you undertook to
determine whether or not a particular caliber of
ammuniition was properly included on the DOJ's caliber list
was to look at the various Web sites.

What, 1f any, factor in you forming your opinion
regarding the appropriate caliber listings on the Web site
listing of the .30 Luger on this particular Web site have
on formulating that opinion, if any?

A You know, it -- it didn't really factor into

my -- I guess, my evaluation. It's not something that I
tend to see in the field. 1It's not, you know, something
I -- we tend to, you know, seize. I don't see it sold or
being offered for sale a whole lot at shows and gun
stores. I think that's the best way to surmise that.

Q Okay. So let me walk you back through the steps
here.

You go to the DROS list as part of your initial

step to see what the popular handguns being sold are.
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Then you go to the second step, where you use your
personal experience and your review of literature and your
review of Web sites to further help you determine what

appropriate caliber ammunitions are included on the list;

correct?
A Correct.
Q Okay. And when we were talking about the 45

before, one of the factors that made 45 appropriately
included based -- in your opinion, was the fact that it
was listed as popular on Web sites; correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's prior testimony.

THE WITNESS: It was listed as handgun ammunition
on the Web sites. You know, this particular Cheaper Than
Dirt article that you've previously mentioned as part of
Exhibit F calls it most popular.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. So -- so to your mind, then,
any of these Web sites which listed this -- these calibers
of ammunition as popular, you didn't give any mind or any
weight to the fact that they may have listed it as most
popular on thelr Web site; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony.

THE WITNESS: I gave it the most -- the most

important thing that it was listed and broken down for
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consumers as handgun ammunition. A particular Web site,

you know, however they're going to classify a particular
type of caliber or cartridge as most popular, you know,
that's how they wanted to list it. That's fine. It was

most important that it was considered handgun ammunition

to me.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Well, let me make sure T
understand.

So you gave some weight, but not a lot of weight,
to how the Web site classified the popularity of that
ammunition.

Is that a correct statement?

A I would say some, but it was not everything. It
was more of a -- you know, a lesser factor than the actual
delineation that it was handgun ammunition versus another
type of ammunition.

Q Okay. So getting back, then, to the .30 Luger,
given that it was listed as a handgun ammunition, what
caused you, then, to discount its listing on the Web sites
as a handgun ammunition from formulating your opinion that
it shouldn't be included on the DOJ's caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony. Compound. Vague and ambiguous.

MR. DALE: Let me go ahead and break it down.

We'll go back because T want to make sure you understand
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the question.
Q You testified that you gave some weight, but not

a lot of weight, to the fact that a particular type of
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ammunition may be listed as popular on the Web sites you

reviewed.
Is that a correct statement?
A Yes.
Q Okay. But you gave more weight to the fact that

the ammunition was listed as handgun ammunition at all on
the web site.

Is that a correct statement?

A Yes.
Q Okay. And then going back to Exhibit F, here we
have a listing of .30 Luger.

So based on your prior testimony, did you give
some weight to the fact that .30 Luger, as listed on this
particular Web site as handgun ammunition, as part of
forming your opinion as to whether or not it was properly
included on the DOJ's caliber list?

A Yes.

Q Okay. So what other factors did you consider in
then coming up with your ultimate opinion that it wasn't
properly included on the DOJ's caliber list?

A The -- I think I've already said the factors

that -- it's not something I'm -- I see here in the field.
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I don't see it in -- you know, meaning we're not
seizing .30 Lugers. We're not -- I don't see a lot of
these offered for sale here. The -- you know, and also
given the amount of time that was allowed for research,
the -- the ones that were listed out were, in my
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experience and, you know, based on my knowledge, they were

the most appropriate -- not to exclude others that might
be also fitting this bill, but this is what was the
best -- the best available at the time.
Q Okay. So I -- and I think you've testified to
this before. Part of your analysis in formulating your
opinions was influenced by the fact that you had a limited
amount of time to help the DOJ formulate this list.

Isn't that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony.

THE WITNESS: Well, I think within the last, I
don't know, two weeks or so, there's been somewhat of a
rush with this particular case, and, you know, that's --
that's the best way I can say it.
0 BY MR. DALE: If you had more time, would you go
and investigate additional calibers and additional
cartridges that weren't listed on the list produced in
order to determine whether or not they should be included

or shouldn't be included on any future list?

67

A I think that would be common sense.

Q Okay. But obviously you don't have the time to
do it right now because we have a trial coming up;
correct?

A Correct. And I've been here talking with you for
quite awhile, so it's obvious that there's -- you know,
cartridges and calibers are not synonymous, so it's -- you

know, the more time would be -- you know, be a better
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accurate list, I guess.
Q Okay. So with regard to the 30 Luger cartridge,
is there a rifle that fires that particular cartridge?
A I don't know, sir.
Q You don't know.

Are you aware that there's a handgun that fires
that particular cartridge?
A Yes. I believe it's a German handgun. I don't
know the model off the top of my head, though.
Q Okay. And as you sit here today, you have no
knowledge whether or not the .30 Luger is fired more from
a handgun than it is from a rifle.

Is that a fair statement?
A Correct. Because, again, I didn't have
sufficient time to do the research on every single, you
know, cartridge out there.

Q Okay. And so if the .30 Luger -- if you did more

68

research and it turned out that it was fired more from
that -- for example, that german handgun or any other
handgun than it is from a rifle, based on your
understanding of the law, it would have to be included on
the list as principally fired or -- or principally used in
a handgun; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Compound. Calls for a
legal conclusion. Vague and ambiguous.
Q BY MR. DALE: OQkay. Well, let's step back and
make sure that we don't have you opining on legal matters

Page 63



16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

11
12
13
14
15
16
17

18

12-02-10
A Yes.

o) And can you read that for me? Just subdivision
B, please?

A Sure. "Handgun ammunition means handgun
ammunition as defined in subdivision A of subdivision
12323, but excluding ammunition designed and intended to
be used in an antique firearm as designed in section
921(a) (16) of Title 18 of United States Code. Handgun
ammunition does not include blanks."

Q Okay. Now, let me ask you, in terms of assisting

71

the DOJ in formulating the caliber list, what efforts did
you take, if any, to determine whether or not a particular
caliber or cartridge of ammunition was designed and
intended to be used in an antique firearm as defined by
the referenced section of the U.S. code?
A Basically, my experience, the Cartridges of the
World reference manual. Basically, those two -- those two
things.
Q Okay. And in terms of your experience, what did
your experience -- what specific parts of your experience
helped you make a determination as to whether any
particular type of ammunition was ammunition designed and
intended to be used in an antique firearm?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

MR. DALE: Okay. Well, let's go back. I want to
make sure I have this straight.
Q Is it true that you used your personal experience

as one of the factors in helping you determine whether a
Page 66



19
20
21
22
23
24
25

i

[ = N S Sy SN
w N e

14
155
16
17
18
19
20

12-02-10
particular caliber of ammunition was or was not designed
and intended to be used in an antique firearm, as it
states in 12060? Is that a correct statement?
A Could you -- could you please repeat that one?
Q Yeah. Yeah. Let me see 1f I can't break it down
a little further.

You understood that part of the list that you

72

were putting together, you were not supposed to ineclude
ammunition designed and intended to be used in an antique
firearm as part of that list; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And I think you just testified that you
used your personal experience. That was one of the
factors you used in helping you determine whether or not
the ammunition that you were attempting to provide an
opinion on fell within that definition; is that correct?
A Yes.

Q Okay. And then the other thing that I think you
said is you used Cartridges of the World to also help you
make that determination?

A Right.

Q QOkay. Were there any other resources or methods

that you used to help you make that particular

determination?
A Regarding antique weapons?
Q No, regarding ammunition that's designed and

intended to be used in an antique firearm.
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A No, I don't believe so. I think that -- that
limits the -- that's the limit of them.
0 Okay. And at any point during the process where

you were attempting to make a determination as to whether

ammunition didn't fall within that definition, did you
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ever consult the referenced section of the U.S. code, 18
USC Section 921 (a) (16)?

A I don't think I looked it up in the last two
weeks, if that's what you're referring to.

Q Okay. Did you look it up at any point prior to
helping the DOJ formulate its list after you were asked by
the DOJ to help formulate its list?

MR. KRAUSE: And this is just his -- just whether
he has looked at it?

MR. DALE: Whether he did, ves.

THE WITNESS: I don't recall looking at it
because I've grown accustomed and familiar with what an
antique firearm is.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. What's your understanding of
an antique firearm?

A Basically it's a firearm that's produced prior to
1898 and it's going to fire, you know, in general terms,
not a modern firearm round.

Q Okay. To your knowledge and expertise, what
calibers of weapons were produced prior to 18987 Was a 22
produced prior to 1898?

A I don't recall, sir.

Q Okay. How about a 45? Was that produced prior
Page 68



24

25

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

12-02-10
to 1898? Did they make any weapon that fired that round?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
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THE WITNESS: The .45 ACP, I believe, came after

that date as opposed to any particular cartridge, there

may be, but I -- I don't have particular opinion on that.
0 BY MR. DALE: Okay. Well, let me kind of ask
broader.

Do you have any information as to whether or not
any weapon which fired a .45 caliber round was produced
prior to 18987

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

Q BY MR. DALE: Mr. Graham, do you understand what
I mean by .45 caliber round? I think -- I don't want to
have to go through all the testimony we had establishing
cartridges and stuff.

You understand what a .45 caliber round is;
correct?

A Correct. I think there are some rifles that
carry that denomination.

Q Okay. Did the fact or your understanding that
there may be some rifles that carry that denomination
factor at all into the opinions that you formed in helping
formulate the DOJ's caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

Are you talking only about antique rifles or --
or any rifles?

MR. DALE: Yeah, let me go back.
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MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony. Argumentative.

THE WITNESS: I don't know it to be available at
this time. There may be a source out there that I'm
unaware of, sir.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Well, I appreciate that.

Let me ask you, I want to get back -- kind of get
back to the definition of your understanding of what you
were defining as principally used.

We talked earlier about how the MP5 fires more
rounds per minute in our hypothetical than the
semiautomatic nine-millimeter pistol.

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates --

Q BY MR. DALE: In determining whether an
ammunition was principally used in a handgun, did you give

any consideration to whether or not more rounds of that
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ammunition may be fired from a particular weapon based on
the speed that that particular weapon fires or the
popularity of its use in one configuration, let's say a
rifle, versus another configuration, a handgun?
MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Compound. Incomplete
hypothetical. Misstates the witness's prior testimony.
THE WITNESS: Could you rephrase that, sir?
Q BY MR. DALE: Yeah. I just want to f£ind out, is
the amount of ammunition that any particular weapon can
fire, was that a factor in whether or not you determined
that ammunition should be included as principally used by
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a handgun on the DOJ's caliber list?

A When you say the amount that it can fire, are you
speaking in terms of, like, a rate of fire?
Q I'm talking about total number of rounds that a
particular weapon fires. So in other words, in our
prior -- and I'm -- I want to make sure we're all on the
same page.

You previously testified that an MP5 has the
capacity to fire more rounds per minute than a
semiautomatic handgun, even though in our hypothetical,

that semiautomatic handgun is firing the same cartridge as
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the MP5.
Do you recall that line of guestioning?
A Yes.
Q Okay. Is the fact that the use of certain

cartridges or calibers of ammunition may be fired at
different rates from different types of weapons, was that
a factor at all in you making your determination as to
whether a particular ammunition should be included on the
DOJ's caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: The -- I would say not much of a
factor because principally for use really deals with the
kind of firearm it's going to go into, in my -- in my
est- -- in my understanding, so if you have one weapon
that can shoot a million rounds a second and then you have
500,000 rounds -- or handguns out there that shoot ten

rounds a minute, that weapon is actually -- or the
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ammunition is principally for use in the larger pool of --
of weapons.
Q BY MR. DALE: OQOkay. How did you come to the
understanding that that is how you define principally used
as handgun ammunition?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

How does he -- what are you referring to?

MR. DALE: I'm referring -- he just testified
that the total number of rounds fired wasn't his
understanding of the definition of principally used in

handguns for purposes of the opinions he formed and the
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analysis he made. I'm just trying to find out what he
based his definition that doesn't include capacity or
rounds fired as part of his opinion.

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

I -- if you understand his question, please --

THE WITNESS: Yeah. Based on my understand- --
experience and expertise, the number of handguns out there
that shoot, let's say nine-millimeter, for example, far
exceed the H & K MP fives or the other, you know,
nonhandgun firearms out there that also happen to be
chambered in the nine-millimeter.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Are you talking about total
number of weapons in circulation in California?

A Yeah. I mean, it's kind of a common sense thing.
I mean, it's -- there's just -- I don't see a lot of MP
fives for sale at gun shows or out there or licensed.
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It's even somewhat of an exclusive weapon in police

agencies. It's not -- you know, the full automatic
versions that we're speaking of, a lot of times, just --
you know, the swat team or parts of the swat team might
have that specific weapon. It's -- it's not a -- a weapon
that you see every day. You know, you're going to see
many, many, many more nine-millimeter handguns out there
than you're going to come across, you know, the MP fives.

Q Okay. Well, let me ask you this:

84

In terms of the nine-millimeter Luger cartridge,
did you do a comparative analysis prior to forming your
opinion as to whether there are more nine-millimeter
handguns that fire that particular cartridge or there are
more submachine guns that fire that particular cartridge
in circulation?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. I think it's been asked
and answered and it's vague and ambiguous, but I'll let
you answer again.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, just given my experience with
the weapons that I see in the course of my duties and that
I have seen in the past at shows, at gun stores, online,
et cetera, the nine-millimeter round is principally for
use in handguns.

o] BY MR. DALE: Okay. But if I asked you, for
example, to cite to me a specific number of
nine-millimeter semiautomatic pistols that use the
nine-millimeter Luger cartridge, you wouldn't be able to

give me a number, as we sit here today; correct?
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MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony.

THE WITNESS: There was a -- basically, there is
a breakdown that -- like there's a nine-millimeter rim
fire shotgun cartridge out there, and that's obviously not
going to be for a handgun.
Q BY MR. DALE: Right. So that wouldn't be
included as part -- based on your understanding, as
ammunition principally used in handguns?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection.

THE WITNESS: What would be, sir?
Q BY MR. DALE: What nine-millimeter rim fire you
just described.
A No, I said it would not be, because it's a
shotgun round. If I was asked at some point by somebody,
hey, is the nine-millimeter rim fire shotgun cartridge
principally for use in handguns, I would probably come to
the conclusion, no, it's not, A, because it's from a
shotgun. I don't know of any other, you know, way to
answer that question.
Q Yeah. And for example, the nine by 57-millimeter
cartridge, is it your opinion that that's principally for

use in a handgun?
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A Nine by 577
Q Yeah.
A I don't recall giving previous testimony on that

round, sir.
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Q QOkay. Do you -- have you ever heard of the nine

by 57-millimeter cartridge?

A I may have, but given all the cartridges we've
gone through in the last day and a half, it's somewhat
muddy in my brain right now.

Q I understand.

Now, do you have any idea as to where that
automated firearms list that you would review -- that you
have reviewed, whether you would be able to determine
whether or not a firearm sold that was listed as
nine-millimeter on that list would have taken a nine by
57-millimeter cartridge as opposed to a nine-millimeter
Luger?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Compound. Vague and
ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: Again, the dealers can put what --
you know, if they had a particular weapon in there that
they classified as a handgun that was also a
nine-millimeter of some sort, it's theoretically possible
that that -- there could be a -- you know, a certain
percentage of the data reflected regarding that kind of a
firearm in this --

Q BY MR. DALE: Based on your experience, is it
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possible the nine-millimeter rim fire could have also been

included on that list?

A Nine-millimeter rim fire shotgun round?
Q Yes.
A Yes, it's there available for the dealers to
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put -- put into the system. So it's possible, yes.
Q Okay. So the automated firearms systems
information that you used to determine how many
nine-millimeter guns there are out there, it could have
included nine-millimeter Luger, it could have included
nine-millimeter rim fire, it could have included nine by
57 millimeter.

Is that my understanding of your testimony?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony and vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: The numbers that -- from Exhibit D,
again, have reflected handgun specific data, so if the
dealer, for some reason, checked the box as a handgun and
then they also checked the nine-millimeter, they would
have made an erroneous entry. If it was a shotgun, they
should have put this in as a long gun, which wouldn't have
populated the list in exhibit did.

Q BY MR. DALE: I see. Okay.
A So I'm relying upon the information.the dealers

provided to, again, just have a basis and a starting point
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of calibers and cartridges to consider for this list for
your question on interrogatory number five.

Q Okay.

MR. KRAUSE: Which, as we've discussed, is not
the clearest interrogatory on the planet.
Q BY MR. DALE: Let me ask you, Mr. Graham, are you

aware of any database which identifies the number of long
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qun sales?

MR, KRAUSE: Objoection. Asked and answerod
vesterday.

THE WILTNESS: Yeah, we're not allowed to track
that information, sir. And [ --
Q BY MR. DALE: What about the bureau of alcohol,
tobacco and firearms? Do they keep a list of certain long
gun sales?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Calls for speculation.
Q BY MR. DALE: Well, let me ask you this:

Are you aware if they keep a list of
manufacturers' totals regarding long gun sales?
A I'm not aware of that, sir. If they do, I -- I
don't recall learning of that. It would be nice to know,
I'm sure, for some other projects unrelated to this issue
to be able to query that system, but I don't have
knowledge of that now.

Q Okay. So would it be fair to say that, prior to
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forming your opinions, you did not review a report titled
"Annual Firearms Manufacturing and Export Report" that's
published by the BATFE?
A Correct.
Q Okay.

MR. KRAUSE: Is that something you want to mark
as an exhibit,

MR. DALE: No. In fact, I don't even have a copy
of it.

Q But I do want to ask this:
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As a hypothetical, Mr. Graham, if there were a
report out there that identified manutacturer's total
sales by state of particular types of long quns, would
that have been a helpful report for you ko review in
forming the opinions that have been expressed in the DOJ's
caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Incomplete hypothetical. Calls for speculation. I mean,
without seeing a report --

THE WITNESS: Yeah, assuming something like that
existed, I would at least review it. I don't know that it
would be -- how much benefit it would have, but I would --

I would consider it.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Well, if I understand your

methodology, your initial methodology of determining

924

whether a particular ammunition's appropriate involved
determining how many handguns were issued that fire that
particular caliber cartridge.

Is that a correct statement of your initial
methodology with the DROS report?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony.

THE WITNESS: Yes, I attempted to use the DROS
and AFS systems to just get a starting point to identify
the most commonly sold firearms here in California over
the last five years or so. And -- well, I think that
answers your question.
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Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Would it have been helpful

to you in forming your opinion if you had a similar list
of rifles and other leng guns which used the same calibers
as the handguns you referenced in the DROS list? Would
that help you in forming your opinion?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Calls for speculation,

THE WITNESS: It may.
Q BY MR. DALE: It may. But obviously you
didn't -- you don't have that report, and so -- I'm going
to withdraw that.

Can we take a five-minute break? Do you folks

mind?
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MR. KRAUSE: No. How is the timing looking?

MR. DALE: I think -- I apologize. I'm not going
to get it done this hour, but I think I'm going to get it
done -- I'll get it done before our drop deadline. That I
promise you.

MR. KRAUSE: Okay.

THE WITNESS: Sir, just to confirm, what's your
interpretation of the drop deadline? I do have another
meeting at 1:30 I need to be to, and I've got to drive --

MR, DALE: Oh, I'm talking about the middle of
the noon hour.

MR. KRAUSE: Like 12:457?

DALE: Yeah.

KRAUSE: Okay. Five-minute break.

2R B

DALE: Five minutes.
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(Recess taken.)
0 BY MR. DALE: I'm going to go ahead and, if
Mr. Graham is ready, ask him to pick up the copy of
Cartridges of the World 12th edition that he has in front
of him?

MR. KRAUSE: Actually, I was thumbing through it
for grins and giggles.

MR. DALE: I know. It's interesting reading,
huh?

MR. KRAUSE: It is.

96

MR. DALE: You know, for a guy who deals in
widgets, I could get some pretty good sleep reading this.

MR. KRAUSE: Now, we-- I don't know how -- the
pages you're going to reference, I'll have to copy them
afterwards and --

MR. DALE: Well, you know, I have an idea.

Are you willing to stipulate that we consider
Cartridges of the World a treatise that's relied upon by
experts in this particular field?

MR. KRAUSE: Yeah.

MR. DALE: Yeah, I think given that, I don't want
to attach a copy of the pages. I think we can just -- we
know that we're using the 12th edition and we have
references there. And that way, we don't have to worry
about copying pages.

MR. KRAUSE: Okay. That sounds good to me.

MR. DALE: Okay. All right.
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see a dash after a particular caliber, it indicates the
powder grains in there. And typically, those are
assoclated with rifles. This one, based on the general
comments here, states that it's a rifle cartridge.
Q Okay. Well, but you note in the general
comments, I think you just read it, that although it was
designed as a rifle cartridge, according to Cartridges of
the World, it became very popular as a revolver cartridge.
Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q Did that particular statement in Cartridges of
the World have any influence on whether or not you were
going to form an opinion regarding .32-20 cartridge
ammunition?
MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
THE WITNESS: That statement on page 285, I can
want say that it had any particular relevance to my
evaluation.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Well, let me ask you this:
Based on your understanding of what you were to
give opinions regarding, specifically, whether ammunition
was principally used in a handgun, was it your
understanding that if you came to learn and formed the
opinion that a cartridge that had previously been used as

a rifle cartridge was now principally used in a handgun,
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that it should be included on the DOJ's caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Compound. Calls for speculation.

THE WITNESS: Could you just repeat the question,
sir?

Q BY MR. DALE: Yeah. I want to know that -- you
know, notwithstanding you just testified that your
understanding is that if it's got a pended number after
it, it's probably a rifle cartridge.

Was it your understanding that if something that
was previously a rifle cartridge had become popular as
handgun ammunition that you would need to include it on
the list of DOJ -- I'm sorry, on the DOJ caliber list?

MR. KRAUSE: Objec¢tion. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: Popular doesn't necessarily equate
to principally for the use in, so, you know, they're two
separate issues.

0 BY MR. DALE: Okay. Well, let me ask you, what
would you do and what methodology did you use in order to
delineate between popular versus principally used in
handguns?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony. Vague and ambiguous.

MR. DALE: Well, let's clarify. Did you do

any -- I'm sorry. I stepped on your objection. Go ahead,
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1 Mr. Krause.
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MR. KRAUSE: T also objected on grounds that it's
vague and ambiguous.

MR. DALE: Okay. I apologize.

Q Did you, Mr. Graham, do anything to delineate
between popular ammunition and ammunition which is
principally used in handguns?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous as
to the word popular.,

MR. DALE: Well, let's go back.

0] You just, right now, Mr. Graham, testified that
there's a difference between popular ammunition and
ammunition that's principally used in handguns. You made
that delineation as part of your testimony.

So what, in your opinion, is the difference
between popular versug principally designed for use in a
handguns?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony.

THE WITNESS: Sir, the difference that I would
see is that there might be -- let's see there's a rifle
chambered in a specific cartridge that's been around for
ten years and then all of a sudden there's a handgun
created in the same cartridge. That, for some reason,

generates interest with firearms enthusiasts and perhaps
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that cartridge sees an upswing in purchases, so that might
cause it to become labeled as popular by a particular
ammunition Web site, for example.
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Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. So it may -- it may gain

some popularity in terms of customers wanting to buy it.

Based on your understanding of what you've just
talked about, your understanding of popular, and your
understanding of what you were looking for in terms of
principally designed for handguns in the situation, the
hypothetical you just described, based on your
methodology, when would that popular handgun -- what
factors would it take for it to become principally used in
handguns, in your opinion?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Compound .

THE WITNESS: You know, potential things you're
going to consider would be different manufacturers that
might make a firearm that chambers a certain cartridge,
number of sales in a particular gun, if a particular
cal:ber is, you know, considered obsolete or -- or at
least obscure. Those types of things.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. So getting back to the
.32-20, which we've noted from the Cartridges of the
World, started out as a rifle cartridge, but became

popular as a revolver cartridge, according to the
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treatise.
A Right.
Q What steps, if any, did you undertake to

determine whether or not that popularity had sort of
crossed that threshold we've described as making it

principally used in handguns?
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MR, KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Calls for speculation.
Q BY MR. DALE: Did you undertake any -- did you
undertake any effort to make that determination?
A With respect to the .32-30, no, sir, I did not.
I did not consider it a -- given the amount of time I had,
it wasn't one that I see here in California at gun shows
or cun stores, and that's -- you know, I basically had a
limited amount of time and had to concentrate on the --
the ones I felt comfortable testifying today about.
Q Okay. So would it be fair to say, as you sit
here today, you have no opinion as to whether the ,32-30
(sic) cartridge is ammunition principally used in a
hanclgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony.
0 BY MR. DALE: Okay. Do you have an opinion as to
whether the .32-20 cartridge is one principally used in

hanclguns?
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A I don't have enough information to determine if
that. particular cartridge is principally for use. It
sounds like it's used in both rifles and handguns, but
like many other calibers and cartridges that we've
discussed over the last day and a half, this was not
included on the list.

Q Okay. If you had more time, I'm going to give
you a hypothetical here, if you had more time to research
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the issue, we didn't have this time constraint of the

trial, what method would you undertake to determine
whether a .32-20 was principally used in handguns?

A I might take a poll of over available experts in
the field. I might interview manufacturers of, you know,
various firearms and ammunition, you know, those types of
things.

Q You said you'd take a poll of other experts in
the field.

As you sit here today, can you give me the names
of some of the experts you might poll or -- or, no, let me
step back.

As you sit here today, please name for me other
experts in the field whose identities that you're aware
of, whom you consider experts?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous as

to -- what field, exactly, are you talking about?
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MR. DALE: Okay. Well, let's step back.
Q Mr. Graham, you just mentioned that you would
take a poll of other experts in the field if you had the
time to do so.

What field were you speaking about when you made

that statement?

A I would probably say firearms and ammunition.
Those types of -~ those areas.
Q And who do you consider to be experts within the

firearms and ammunition field whom you would talk to in

order to form an opinion if you had further time?
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A Probably members of the Department of Justice
bureau of forensic services. There are criminal lists
that are in the DOJ labs up and down the state. I would
probably ask them. They see a lot of firearms on an
evidentiary scale and they have a great number -- or a
great amount of experience.
Q Okay. Who -- who are those members of the
Department of Justice bureau of forensic services whom you
would consult specifically? Do you have names?
A I'd probably go ask Steve Lindley, our chief, to
contact the chief of the bureau of forensic services for
some kind of a list, because I haven't personally met, you
know, all the people in all the labs out there.

Q Okay. Who else, specifically, can you think of
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within the bureau of forensic services whom you know, whom
you have spoken to before or interacted with that you
would consult?

A There's a gentleman by the name of Mike Giusto.
I'll try to spell his last name. It's G- -- I think it's
G-i-u-s-t-o. He's in Sacramento here. And, let's see.
Robert Wilson. He's someone I deal with at the Sacramento
crime lab.

Q Anyone else?

A I probably -- again, I'd probably go through the
chief of BFS if I could and have recommendations from that
person.

Q Let me ask you, among those people whom you would
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consult with as experts if you had more time. Is Torrey

Johngon, is he one of those people?

A He's another member of the bureau of forensic
services.
Q Okay. All right. So I want to ask you a

question about your methodology.
At the point in which you were forming opinions,

did you give any consideration at all to use of handguns

or use of rifles by members of the military in -- in
California?
A Well, I considered -- I guess I considered the --

in the sense the use of the machine guns that I've spoken
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about. Like, you know, law enforcement uses MP5s. I --
it did actually pop into my head that certain -- you know,
like Navy Seals, they're pretty well known to use the MP5.
We do have those here in California. So in that sense, I
did consider some of the weapons that they would, you
know, use. They also use -- the military members use
Beretta pistols 19-millimeter.

Q. Okay. Did you undertake to determine how many of
each type of weapon the military uses as part of
formulating your opinion?

A No, sir, I -- I -- again, given the time I had, I
don't believe that -- I'm not even sure that they would
release that information, but I -- I didn't do that.

Q Okay. Let's see. Did you ever undertake to
determine how many rounds of a particular cartridge of

ammunition are fired by the military located within the
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State of California as part of their training exercises?
A No, sir.
Q Okay. Was one of the factors that you used in
determining whether or not a particular ammunition was
primarily used for handgun ammunition a -- did it include
whether or not the military was using that ammunition
principally in their handguns?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

Calls for speculation.
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THE WITNESS: The -- the fact that the -- I know
the military to carry nine-millimeter Beretta handguns and
some members of the United States marine corps using 1911
style .45 ACP handguns, that factored in, but, again, I
don't have any specific numbers that -- of weapons that
they have or rounds -- numbers of rounds that they fire on
an annual basis.

Q0 BY MR. DALE: Okay. So as you sit here today,
you don't know exactly how many handguns are currently
used as service weapons in military installations in the
State of California; correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Calls for speculation.

THE WITNESS: I do not, sir.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. So you didn't use that
information, the number of handguns currently used by
service members stationed in California, as part of
forming your opinions regarding which ammunition should be
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19 included on the DOJ's caliber list; is that a correct

20 statement?

21 MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

22 THE WITNESS: I don't see the difference in that
23 question versus the last question you asked.

24 Q BY MR. DALE: Well, and I appreciate that,

25 nonetheless, but I would like to know, you didn't use any
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1 information regarding the number of handguns used by

2 service members stationed in California as part of your

3 forming your opinion regarding whether a particular

4 ammunition should be on the DOJ's caliber list; is that

5 correct?

6 MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Lacks foundation.

7 Compound. Vague and ambiguous. Calls for speculation.

8 THE WITNESS: Again, those numbers are not

9 available to me, sir, so I could not use whatever numbers
10 those are.
LAl (o) BY MR. DALE: Okay. As you sit here today, do
12 you know -- do you have any basis for knowing whether or
13 not the number of handguns that are used by members of the
14 military stationed in California exceeds the numbers that
15 are in circulation in the general population?

16 MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

17 Calls for speculation.

18 MR. DALE: I'm sorry.
19 Q@ Mr. Graham, do you understand what I'm asking?
20 A I think you're asgking if members -- well, if the

21 United States military, in all of its branches, have in
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their inventories, whether they're issued or unissued
status, more guns than the residents of the State of

California have purchased since time began?

Q That's correct.
111

A Okay.

MR. KRAUSE: And --

THE WITNESS: I don't know that.
Q BY MR. DALE: You don't know that?
A No.
Q Okay. And what about submachine guns? Do you
have any idea whether -- let me -- I'm going to step back.

We previously talked about how there are certain
submachine guns, specifically the ones that you've
classified as submachine guns, such as the MP5, that fire
handgun ammunition; correct?

A Say that again. What --

Q Yeah, there are certain submachine guns that fire
handgun ammunition; correct?

A Yes.

Q Okay. &2and do you have any idea how many of those
weapons that you've identified as submachine guns are
currently used by members of the military stationed in
California?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
prior testimony. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: No, sir, I have no knowledge of how
many submachine guns are in the possession and use by the
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military in California.

0 BY MR. DALE: Okay. Do you know whether the
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number of submachine guns that are in possession and use

in the military in California exceeds the number of

handguns in circulation in California in the general

population?
A I -- I have no way of knowing that.
Q Okay. Let's see. Hopefully we can get this

wrapped up within the next half hour.

Let's go back to an area that we didn't finish up
with.

You talked about how part of your methodology was
looking through books such as Cartridges of the World,
your own personal experience and looking at Web sites to
help you form an opinion regarding whether ammunition is
principally used in handguns.

Do you recall when we went over that testimony?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. What other methods did you use, if any, in
addition to that besides what you've previously testified
to in order to help you form an opinion regarding whether
particular ammunition should be included -- I'm going to
withdraw that.

What other methods did you use besides the ones
you've testified to to form your opinions regarding
whether ammunition was principally used in a handgun?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
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Calls for a narrative.

THE WITNESS: I think my previous testimony
speaks for itself. I have nothing to change at this time.
0 BY MR. DALE: Okay. So let's -- let's make sure
I understand it.

You took a look at the DROS list. That was your
first step, right?

A Yes, the DROS and AFS list, correct.

Q Okay. And -- I'm sorry. Could you repeat that
last acronym?

A The DROS and AFS list. Automated firearm systems
and what the AFS stands for.

Q Okay. And to your understanding, what is the
difference between the information on the AFS list and the
DROS list?

A Well, maybe we should be speaking in terms of the
exhibits just so we're clear. Let me look at the list
here. The AFS list, I'm understanding that to be E.
Correct, sir?

Q Well, I understand AFS -- Exhibit E is a portion
of a reference guide from the AFS list; isn't that
correct?

A Well, this is a -- it's like a breakdown that the
dealers can see when they make their entries into the DROS

system, which then populates the AFS system.
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Q I see. Okay. Well, what I'm specifically
talking about is what data you used from the AFS system to
help formulate your opinion.

A The data would be, again, as I've already said,
the types of guns that were sold since 2006, as evidenced
in Exhibit D.

Q Okay. By the way, based on your review of the
list of weapons sold since 2006, do you have a -- any
understanding of what percentage of the total weapons in

circulation the weapons sold since 2006 comprise?

A I don't have that information at this time, sir.
I -- it's -- you know, it may be available, but I don't
have that number in front of me or -- and I don't know it

off the top of my head.
Q Okay. Do you have any idea whether -- okay.
You've already answered that. I'm not going to ask you
again.

Is there any particular reason you went back to
2006 as opposed to going back, you know, through the time
at least the DOJ has kept automated records?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Calls for speculation.

THE WITNESS: Given the amount 6f, I guess, time
available and resources available in this -- in this time,
that's the -- the reason I picked five years to go back.

It's possible to go back farther, I'm sure, but given the
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time, I -- I just wanted, again, a starting place of what

was happening recently.
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Q BY MR. DALE; Okay,. Okay.

MR. WORLEY: [ need to wexcuse myself, so --

MR. KRAUSE: Okay.

MR, WORLEY: All right. ‘Thanks, quys.

MR. KRAUSE: Thanks for sitting in with us.

Ed is leaving the building.

MR. DALE: Okay.

MR. KRAUSE: Okay. Now we can move on.

MR. DALE: All right.

MR. KRAUSE: Is there a question pending? I
don t know --

MR. DALE: No, there's not.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

MR. DALE: There's not.
Q So if I understand your testimony correctly,
Mr. Graham, the reason you chose 2006 was, in part, based
on the time constraints. You didn't have time to go back
further and look at records older than 2006,

Is that a fair statement?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Mischaracterizes the
witness's testimony.

THE WITNESS: The -- yeah, just given the -- the

amount of time I had to pull something together. I just
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wanted a place to start. I don't know if -- if any of

this would have changed given more data or less data. It
just -- I just wanted to see, hey, what's a -- what's a --
give me a -- I'd like a count of how popular these things
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are over a specific time period and that would give me

kind of a starting place to kind of start my evaluation.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. As you sit here today, do
you have any knowledge as to whether or not handgun sales
within California have been increasing, decreasing or
staying the same over the past decade?

A I believe gun sales in general, I would say in
the last two years, have -- have spiked. I think around
20 percent higher, but I can't break it down by caliber --
I'm sorry, by handgun versus long guns. Typically, in

California, handguns are either 49 or 51 percent, and

it -- sometimes it seems to flip-flop year to year on the
breakdown.
Q Okay. And I think I already asked you this, but

I just want to make sure.

You don't have any understanding, as you sit here
today, or any opinion as to what percentage of handguns
sold within the past five years comprised the total number
of guns that are currently in circulation in California;
correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
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THE WITNESS: I think you asked this question
earlier and --
Q BY MR. DALE: Yeah, let me ask it an easier way.

You don't know whether or not the guns sold in
the last five years comprise five percent of the total
guns in eirculation or 75 percent, right?

A No --
Page 108



12-02-10
0 You don't have any basis for forming an opinion
about that; correct?
A No, sir. Not at this time.
Q Okay. Okay. And I think you testified that if
you went back and got to look at more of the records, some
of the ones that you identified might -- might change; is
that correct?
A Yeah. Obviously, given more information, one's
opinion can change over time with more information
available, but given what I had available to me, I -- T
chose to list certain calibers. That's all.
Q Okay. Okay. As part of your methodology, at any
point, did you attempt to identify research studies that
might have examined what the most popular or the most
prevalently used types of ammunition are?
A No, sir. That was not a consideration that I
thought of during the course of this evaluation.

Q Okay. As you sit here today, are you aware of
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any research studies that attempt to identify things such
as the popularity of a particular type of gun or
particular type of ammunition?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

What do you mean by type of ammunition?

MR. DALE: Okay. We'll go back and do this step
by step.

MR. KRAUSE: All I want you to do is identify
what you mean by type.
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MR. DALE: And I'm just asking him a general

question as to whether or not he's aware of the existence
of research studies that attempt to determine the
popularity of a particular cartridge or of a particular
caliber or even of a particular handgun. I'm not trying
to tie him into one exact caliber cartridge handgun. I
just want to know if he knows 1f anybody has ever done
those types of research study.

THE WITNESS: Sir, to answer your question, I --
I don't know of a study like that.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. As part of your methodology,
did you attempt to see if there were any polls out there
which had been taken to determine if a particular type of
cartridge was more popular than any other type of
cartridge in the State of California?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
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Argumentative.

THE WITNESS: I think I've explained my
methodology at this point. Beyond that, I don't think I
have anything to add.

Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. So you didn't -- you didn't
attempt to determine if there were any polls that had been
taken regarding ammunition in general?

A No.

Q Okay. Did you, yourself, attempt to conduct any
polls with members of the general public regarding what
types of ammunition they use in their handguns?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
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THE WITNESS: No, sir, I didn't actively take any
polls. I -- you know, I'm around gun shows and gun stores
and I see what people are buying, and that's -- you know,
that would have been a factor that I considered.
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. Your personal observations,
if I understand; correct?
A Yeah. I've -- if I'm at a show and I see people
buying up a certain caliber, that's something I'll pay
attention to and that type of information.
Q Okay. And as you observe -- as you have attended
these gun shows and watched people buying certain
calibers, did you take any notes regarding what particular

calibers were selling particularly well and which ones
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weren't?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: I don't know if I took any -- any
notes, whether they be written or electronic. It was more
of just, you know, memory; that I remember seeing people
buying, you know, certain calibers and not buying other
calibers.

Q BY MR. DALE: I see. So based on your personal
observations, you formed opinions regarding whether or not
particular calibers or particular cartridges were more
popular at gun shows than other ones; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Misstates the witness's
testimony.

MR. DALE: Okay. Look, I'm not trying to lock
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him into anything here, so I can walk him back through it,

peter, but -- I'm sorry, Mr. Krause, but -- I'll do it. T
don't want to. I just want to nail down the fact that the
basis for his opinion regarding what ammo sells better at
gun shows is based on what he observed. And I can lay all
the foundation for it and we can spend ten minutes doing
it, but I'd rather not.

MR. KRAUSE: I just don't know that that was
actually his testimony.

MR. DALE: Okay. Well, I -- I want to find out.

Did he --
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Q Mr. Graham, did you take any written notes
regarding what you observed as to the sale of specific
types -- I'm sorry, specific cartridges of ammunition at
any gun show you attended?
A Sir, I've already testified I took no notes,
whether they be written or electronic, regarding a
particular cartridge being more popular. It was just
something that I saw and, you know, remember certain
calibers selling bet ter than others.
Q Okay. So this was all based on your personal
observation?

MR. KRAUSE: Vague and ambiguous.
Q BY MR. DALE: Mr. Graham, do you understand what
I mean by personal observation?
A I am, but I'm not sure what "this" means. What
do you mean when you say "this"?

Q Okay. The testimony you're giving regarding your
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regarding the number of rounds sold to help form your
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opinion regarding ammunition primarily used in -- I'm
sorry, principally used in handguns?
A No.
Q Okay. And I'm sorry, what was the third one
again? I apologize.
A It's called gun traders guide.
Q Okay. Would it be fair to say that gun traders

guide doesn't have a listing of the number of rounds of a
particular cartridge sold in it in any given year?

A I didn't note that it did, so I -- but I cannot
say that it does not, though.

Q Okay. Okay. Well, as you sit here today, do you
have any specific recollection of using information
regarding the number of rounds sold that you got out of

that particular book in order to form your opinion?

A No.
Q Okay.
Okay. Why don't we -- I -- I think we're close

to getting this wrapped up. Why don't we take about a
five-minute break so I can sort of figure out some of my
final questions and we'll go from there.

MR. KRAUSE: That sounds wonderful.

MR. DALE: Perfect.

MR. KRAUSE: Thank you.

THE WITNESS: Back in -- 12:20? I guess they're

126
Page 116



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

12-02-10

off.
MR. DALE: Yep. That works.
THE WITNESS: Okay.
(Recess taken.)
Q BY MR. DALE: Mr. Graham, have you ever heard of

a cartridge called a five by 54 FN round?

A 554 FN?

Q Five by 54.

A I don't recall that off the top of my head.

Q Okay. Because I want to try to clarify something
here. I'm a little unclear as to -- we've talked about

how your definition of principally used in a handgun
means -- part of it means majority, and I'm trying to
figure out what that majority is, so I want to give you --
I'm going to give you a hypothetical to find out where
this would fall in your methodology.

A Okay.

Q If there was a particular cartridge and there was
one model of handgun and three models of rifles, but there
were more individual copies of the handgun in circulation
than there were of the three rifles, for the purposes of
the definition that you used to form your opinions, would
you consider that hypothetical gun to be -- have a
cartridge -- strike that.

Would you consider that cartridge used in both
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the rifle and the gun to be principally used as handgun

ammunition?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection.

Q BY MR. DALE: And if you need clarification, let
me know.

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Incomplete hypothetical.
Compound and vague and ambiguous.

0 BY MR. DALE: Yeah. Let me -- what I'm trying to
find out is, are we -- in your coming to your opinions as
what's principally used as handgun ammunition, were you
counting the numerosity of total weapons? Were you
counting numerosity of total models that use that
particular cartridge? How did you make that
determination?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. I think this has been
covered. Asked and answered, but if you can answer.

THE WITNESS: Given the available information in
the amount of time I had, I tried to compare the number of
manufacturers that may have produced a weapon in a
particular caliber, the number of models that each
manufacturer used in that caliber, and then, perhaps, the
length of time that a particular gun has been available in

a particular caliber and then also factored in are there,

you know -- are there rifles in that caliber. Are
there -- or is it strictly a handgun issue.
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Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. What information did you use

to determine if there were rifles that used a particular

cartridge that you also identified as being used in a
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handgun?
A Probably my experience and, you know, Rifles of
the World. That's one of the -- there's some pages at the

back of the book. I've you've been provided with the
information. The gun traders guide. That lists, you
know, weapons in there and their calibers and cartridges
that are applicable.

Q Okay. ©Now, let me -- let me clarify.

Cartridges of the World, even though it lists all
the cartridges and it lists that they may be used in
rifles and in handguns, it doesn't actually list which
weapons are chambered with that particular cartridge
that's listed in that book; is that correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: There are ~- within the pages of --
when it's broken down by handgun, by rifle, and then
there's a rim fire section too, and then I think a shotgun
section, there's usually a little synopsis about the round
itself. And depending on the author's, I guess,
information he had available, it appears he put in certain
information about weapons in there when he either wanted

to or had that information available.
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Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. But am I correct in
understanding that if you look at, for example, the .32-20
Winchester listing we previously talked about, it's not
going to list all particular weapons that chamber that
round underneath that listing in Cartridges of the World?
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cartridges that are used?
MR. KRAUSE: Vague and ambiguous. Objection.
THE WITNESS: When you say --
Q BY MR. DALE: Okay. 2And did you attempt to speak

to the rangemaster at all to help inform your opinions

regarding ammunition that's principally used in handguns?

A Who is the rangemaster you're speaking of?
Q I'm -- at the DOJ range.
A We have approximately, I don't know, several

hundred agents throughout the state. There's range
masters in -- in different -- you know, there's four or
five different bureaus, multiple range masters within each
bureau. I'm a rangemaster myself.
Q Okay. Did you speak to any of the other range
masters prior to formulating your opinion?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.
Did --
Q BY MR. DALE: Did you speak to any of the other
range masters at any of the other DOJ facilities in the
State of California in order to get information to help
yvou form the opinions you're expressing today?
A I can't recall specifically asking them, after
being given this assignment, to -- you know, in answer to
your question, no.

Q Okay. And I'm assuming you did not receive any
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written materials from any of the range masters at any of
the DOJ facilities regarding their observations as to
types of ammunition used at the ranges or cartridges or
calibers or any information of that sort?

A I didn't receive any information, but I know that
we all shoot the same caliber weapons and there is a

standardization throughout the Department of Justice, 1if

that -- are you getting -- is that what you're asking.

Q Yes.

A Okay.

Q All right. So I'm going to go ahead and wrap up

here so I understand.

In forming your opinions, you based those
opinions on a review of the DROS and AFS records
initially; correct? That was your first step?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And then your second step was you looked
at the Web sites we've identified, the books we've
identified and then called upon your personal knowledge in
order to augment that first step; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And you didn't take any polls in order to
form your opinion; correct?

MR. KRAUSE: Objection. Vague and ambiguous.

THE WITNESS: I -- I did not poll members of the
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general public, which was what I think you asked earlier
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today.

o] BY MR. DALE: Right. Did you poll any firearms
dealers?

A No.

Q No. Okay.

So were there any other sources of information
that you used other than what we just went over to help
inform your opinion regarding which ammunition is
principally used in handguns?

A Other than the document that I prepared here
breaking down nonhandguns that use handgun ammunition.

And again, that's something that I just created then I
was, you know, trying to think of weapons that fired these
calibers.

0 Okay. All right. Aand nothing besides that
document which you generated and the other items which we
just discussed were used by vou to help yvou formulate your
opinion; is that correct?

A I can't think of any -- you know, I think you've
been provided with that document. There's the document
from SAAMI, which is the Small Arms Ammunition
Manufacturers Institute. It gets into some -- what they
consider handgun ammunition.

Q Okay. Hold on one sec.
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Okay. All right. Are there any other opinions
that you formed regarding the scope of your expertise that
vou've been designated to testify to here today that you

haven't had an opportunity to express?
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